## HUMAN GAIT ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENT EMOTIONS IN REAL-TIME VIDEO VIEWING

リアルタイムの映像視聴における 異なる感情についての人間の歩容解析

A DOCTORAL DISSERTATION PRESENTED

 $\mathbf{B}\mathbf{Y}$ 

#### NITCHAN JIANWATTANAPAISARN

#### SCHOOL OF SYSTEMS INFORMATION SCIENCE FUTURE UNIVERSITY HAKODATE SEPTEMBER 2022

#### Acknowledgments

First of all, I am really grateful to Prof. Dr. Kaoru Sumi for the opportunity of being her doctoral student at Future University Hakodate. I would like to thank for her support, advice, comments, and suggestions as my doctoral advisor. I am very appreciated to the great help and guidance from Dr. Akira Utsumi when I took an internship at Advanced Telecommunications Research Institute International (ATR) during my doctoral program. My doctoral degree could not have been possible without their kind help.

I also want to express my gratitude to Assoc. Prof. Dr. Nirattaya Khamsemanan and Assoc. Prof. Dr. Cholwich Nattee, my former advisor and coadvisor when I took my master's degree at Sirindhorn International Institute of Technology, Thammasat University in Thailand for their cordially support and advice since I was an undergraduate student until now.

Definitely, I am deeply indebted to Prof. Dr. Yasuyuki Sumi and Prof. Dr. Ei-Ichi Osawa for their very useful comments, questions, and for pointing out the things I should improve in my dissertation. I also appreciated their recommendations during all of my presentations.

As my study used many tools, equipment, and software. I would like to thank all of my companions in Kaoru Sumi Laboratory, especially Thomas James Tiam-Lee, Toshiro Kashiwagi, and Keigo Yabuki for their help with solving problems and issues in Python, C#, R, Unity, and all other software I used in my study, as well as their assistance for setting up the equipment for motion capturing which is extremely essential for my study.

I am certainly gratified all subjects who participated in my experiments. Without their cooperation in my experiments and data collections, my study could not be done.

As I am a Japanese government sponsored student, I am much obliged to Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology for giving me the full scholarship and living allowance for my entire doctoral program in Future University Hakodate. Because of this scholarship, I can conduct my doctoral study without any financial difficulty.

Ultimately, I would like to thank my family and my friends in Thailand who always support and encourage me during my doctoral study. They always inspire me, and I am so delighted every time I contact them.

Lastly, I would like to acknowledge all the parties involved, including the professors, researchers, staffs, students, and everyone who support and assist me until I successfully finish this doctoral study.

#### Abstract

### HUMAN GAIT ANALYSIS OF DIFFERENT EMOTIONS IN REAL-TIME VIDEO VIEWING

リアルタイムの映像視聴における 異なる感情についての人間の歩容解析

by

Nitchan Jianwattanapaisarn

Bachelor of Science in Information Technology, Sirindhorn International Institute of Technology, Thammasat University, Thailand, 2013 Master of Engineering in Information and Communication Technology for

Embedded Systems, Sirindhorn International Institute of Technology,

Thammasat University, Thailand, 2017

Emotion recognition and analysis are useful in many circumstances. It can be used to avoid altercations and crimes, improve customer experience, and improve student concentration in online learning. Traditional methods for detecting and analyzing emotions are developed using facial features, which require close-up facial information that cannot be obtained from standard security cameras. Postures and gait features can be observed noninvasively from afar unlike other biometrics such as facial features, iris, and eye movements. The relationship between human emotions with their gaits and postures were analyzed in this study. Experiments were conducted with two datasets consisting of 49 participants and 23 participants walking in a circular pattern, either clockwise or counter-clockwise, in the recording area while watching emotion-inducing videos on Microsoft HoloLens 2 smart glasses. Their postures and gait characteristics were recorded using OptiTrack motion capturing system. Angles between body parts and the walking straightness of participants in three different emotions including happy, sad, and neither were calculated as gait features. The differences in body parts movements of participants while they are walking and watching emotional videos were examined. Statistical results show that the arm swings are significantly different between happy emotion and sad emotion. Also, while subjects are feeling happy, their outside arm swings are statistically larger than their inside arm swings. The findings of this study reveal that human emotions can be effectively recognized using arm movements with taking arm side and walking straightness information into consideration as well. To the best of my knowledge, this is the first study that uses emotional videos to induce emotions of the participants while they are walking and watching the videos on smart glasses at the same time. These findings have the potential to advance the field of emotion recognition and analysis using human gaits and postures.

# Table of Contents

Chapter Title	Page
Acknowledgments	i
Abstract	iii
Table of Contents	vi
List of Figures	ix
List of Tables	xi
1 Introduction	1
2 Related Works	5
3 Data Collection	12
3.1 Equipment for Data Collection	14
3.2 Recording Environment	17
3.3 Materials for Data Collection	18
3.4 Methods for Data Collection	20
3.5 Collected Dataset	23
4 Data Preprocessing	27
5 Feature Extraction	29

6	Statistical Analysis of Gait Features	37
	6.1 One-way Analysis of Variance	37
	6.1.1 Methodology	37
	6.1.2 Results	38
	6.2 Multi-Factor Analysis of Variance	44
	6.2.1 Methodology	44
	6.2.2 Results	46
	6.3 Linear Regression Analysis	47
	6.3.1 Methodology	47
	6.3.2 Results	49
7	Collection of Second Dataset	51
	7.1 Data Collection Methods	51
	7.1.1 Collected Dataset	52
8	Data Proprocessing and Feature Extraction of Second Dataset	61
9	Statistical Analysis of Gait Features for the Combination of	
	Both Datasets	63
	9.1 One-way Analysis of Variance	63
	9.1.1 Methodology	63
	9.1.2 Results	64
	9.2 Multi-Factor Analysis of Variance	72
	9.2.1 Methodology	72
	9.2.2 Results	73

10	Discussion	76
11	Conclusion	101
List	of Publications	103
Refei	rences	105
Appe	endix	113

# List of Figures

Figure	Pa	ıge
3.1	Position of Front and Back Markers (Original Human Figure	
	Source: $dog012$ on Sketchfab <sup>1</sup> )	14
3.2	Attached Markers on Subject's Body	15
3.3	Two OptiTrack Flex 3 Cameras were Installed on One Camera	
	Stand at Different Height Levels	16
3.4	Rectangle Walking Area Marked with Black Tape on the Floor	17
3.5	Size of Walking Area and Position of Recording Equipment (Op-	
	tiTrack Flex 3)	18
3.6	Data Collection Process	21
3.7	A Subject Wearing Microsoft HoloLens 2	22
3.8	Sample of Walking Subject while Watching Video on HoloLens 2	24
3.9	A Subject Walking while Watching a Video on HoloLens 2 and	
	Wearing OptiTrack Suit for Motion Capturing	25
4.1	Preprocessing Steps for Straightness and Angles	28
5.1	Split a Walking Trial into Chunks for Straightness and Angle	
	Calculation	30
5.2	Finding Angles between Left and Right Vector to Calculate	
	Straightness	31
5.3	Sample of Walking Path for Each Subject	36

6.1	$\label{eq:Angle of BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh} (Arm$	
	Swing) in Body Skeleton Image (Original Human Figure Source:	
	dog012 on Sketchfab <sup>2</sup> )	41
6.2	Plot of Left Arm Swing in All Emotions (with $95\%$ Confident	
	Interval Error Bars)	42
6.3	Plot of Right Arm Swing in All Emotions (with $95\%$ Confident	
	Interval Error Bars)	42
7.1	Arm and Hand Folding Examples	
	(Image Source: Lettuce $Club^3$ )	57
8.1	Sample of Walking Path for Each Subject in the Second Dataset	62
9.1	Plot of Left Arm Swing in All Emotions for the Combined Dataset	69
9.2	Plot of Right Arm Swing in All Emotions for the Combined	
	Dataset	70
9.3	Illustration of Two Additional Angles which are Significantly	
	Different between Happy and Sad	71

х

# List of Tables

Table	Pa	ge
3.1	List of OptiTrack Baseline Markers	26
3.2	Comparison of Expected Emotion from Stimuli and Reported	
	Emotion from Self-Reported Questionnaire	26
5.1	List of Angles between Each 3 Markers	35
6.1	Tukey Test Results of Significantly Different Mean and SD of	
	Each Angle in Each Straightness Group (Factor: Expected Emo-	
	tion)	38
6.2	Tukey Test Results of Significantly Different Mean and SD of	
	Each Angle in Each Straightness Group (Factor: Reported Emo-	
	tion)	40
6.3	Conversion from Straightness Group to Curvature for Multi-	
	Factor ANOVA (Plus Sign for Outside and Minus Sign for Inside)	45
6.4	Results of Multi-Factor ANOVA	47
6.5	Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey Test of Reported Emotion	47
7.1	Comparison of Expected Emotion from Stimuli and Reported	
	Emotion from Self-Reported Questionnaire for the Second Dataset	60

9.1	Tukey Test Results of Significantly Different Mean and SD of	
	Each Angle in Each Straightness Group for the Combined Dataset	
	(Factor: Reported Emotion)	66
9.2	Comparison of Arm Swing Magnitude (SD) in All Emotions for	
	Left and Right Side	67
9.3	Results of Multi-Factor ANOVA for Combined Dataset	74
9.4	Results of Multi-Factor ANOVA for the Second Dataset	74
9.5	Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey Test on Reported Emo-	
	tion of the Combined Dataset	75
9.6	Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey Test on Gender of the	
	Combined Dataset	75
9.7	Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey test on Gender of the	
	Second Dataset	75
1	Results of One-Way ANOVA for Mean and SD of Each Angle in	
	Each Straightness Group for the First Dataset (Factor: Expected	
	Emotion)	114
2	Results of One-Way ANOVA for Mean and SD of Each Angle in	
	Each Straightness Group for the First Dataset (Factor: Reported	
	Emotion)	115
3	Results of One-Way ANOVA for Mean and SD of Each Angle in	
	Each Straightness Group for the Combination of Both Datasets	
	(Factor: Expected Emotion)	116

xii

4 Results of One-Way ANOVA for Mean and SD of Each Angle in
Each Straightness Group for the Combination of Both Datasets
(Factor: Reported Emotion) 117

### Chapter 1

### Introduction

Emotion recognition and analysis have gained popularity in recent years due to its usefulness in a variety of applications such as improving the quality of human-robot interaction, evaluating customer satisfaction, detecting suspicious behaviors for crime prevention, assessing student engagement during online classes, and so forth. It can be used to avoid violence among groups of people by recognizing when one or more people in a heated debate become uncomfortable. Appropriate personnel could intervene, and remove the members from the group. Emotional recognition and analysis can also be utilized in marketing, such as determining whether an advertisement elicits a good response from people passing by. Many of these uses can improve the quality of life of humans.

Because of the importance of human emotion analysis research, there is a dedicated research area called *Affective Computing* [33] that aims to train computers to comprehend and generate human-like affects that may be applied to a variety of applications. Many affective computing applications have been proposed in recent years. Several works are highly helpful in today's pandemic crisis, particularly for educational purposes, as most students are unable to attend on-site sessions. Students who would like to practice their programming abilities at home cannot receive face-to-face supervision from instructors; hence, they cannot develop their skills as effectively as they would in a normal situation. The online exercise application can estimate how students perform in each assignment by incorporating affective computing technology. If the students do not perform well in any assignment, they can perhaps feel drained or bored. The program can advise the students to focus on their weak points in that assignment, and can interact with the students using animated agents to make them feel positive so they can continue studying effectively and happily [42].

Unfortunately, predicting a subject's emotion using human observers is an expensive, time-consuming operation that is not accurate enough to be used in practice. Many methods for automatic emotion prediction have been developed; however, the majority of publicly available methods now employ facial expressions as input for analysis and prediction. Facial features operate well in some scenarios but have limitations, such as becoming more difficult to obtain in noisy environments and by conventional security cameras. Furthermore, some people do not show intense emotions on their faces. Because of these restrictions, emotional detection approaches based on facial features are only useful in certain scenarios, particularly when the individuals' faces can be clearly captured, such as when they are facing forward near the camera. If face photos cannot be clearly recorded, other features are required to make emotion prediction and analysis applications more accurate and suitable for real-world deployment.

Human gaits and postures are the manner in which the human body moves and poses when walking or performing other tasks. Gaits and postures can be monitored from afar without the need for high-resolution photos or videos. The collection of gaits and posture characteristics does not interfere with the individuals' daily lives. These data can even be gathered without the subjects' knowledge. Gaits and postures recognition have been employed effectively in a variety of applications, including human identification [18, 26], human re-identification [27], human age estimation, and gender recognition [12, 21]. Hence, human gait and posture are appropriate features to detect human emotions as shown in several previous studies [3, 6, 14, 17, 24, 25, 30, 34, 35, 44, 47].

The goal of this study is to examine the changes in human gaits and postures when humans are feeling different emotions. Experiments were conducted to see how different body parts move in different emotions and if these movements can be utilized to determine subjects' emotions. The participants for the experiments are undergraduate university students, both male and female. While watching emotion-inducing videos, participants were asked to walk in their natural manners on a non-straight walking path.

Traditional techniques of showing videos to individuals before walking have the possibility that the induced emotions are not consistent and do not last until the end of the walk. Furthermore, if the videos are shown on a regular screen while a subject is walking in a non-straight pattern, the subject must bend or turn his or her head to watch the videos on the screen. With my proposed method, the individual can see the videos immediately on HoloLens 2, allowing him or her to walk naturally while also watching the video. This method can ensure that induced emotion is more consistent and lasts until the end of the walk. In this study, one-way and multi-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA), as well as linear regression analysis were used to analyze all gait data.

Experiments and analyses were performed to prove two hypotheses in this study. The first hypothesis is that body part movements while walking differ in different emotions, so walking postures can reveal subjects' emotions. The second hypothesis is that body movements of the left and right sides while walking on a non-straight path are not symmetric, and one body side can reveal subjects' emotions better than the other. This study is different from other conventional studies since it focuses on human gaits analysis while the subjects walk in a non-straight walking path.

In conclusion, the results of statistical analyses show that human gaits and postures vary according to emotions, particularly left arm swing movements.

This dissertation is organized as follows. The overview of this study is shown in Chapter 1. Then, other works which are related with this study are mentioned in Chapter 2. Data collection that was used in this study is explained in Chapter 3. This chapter includes data collection method, equipment used in data collection, recording environment setup, materials for emotion induction and information of collected dataset. Chapter 4 shows the method that was used to preprocess the collected data before using. Gait features extraction methods are listed in Chapter 5. Statistical analyses of gait features for this dataset are described in Chapter 6. Additionally, another data collection was performed so the second dataset collection, preprocessing as well as features extraction, and statistical analyses of this dataset are explained in Chapter 7, Chapter 8, and Chapter 9 respectively. Discussion and explanation of analyses results for both datasets are described in Chapter 10. Lastly, the summary and conclusion of the entire study are shown in Chapter 11.

#### Chapter 2

### **Related Works**

Because of the field's popularity and usefulness, several studies on emotion recognition have been proposed in recent years. The majority of these works, however, are based on facial expression. These studies produce accurate results for some applications but have limitations in other real-world applications, as discussed in the previous chapter. Fewer studies have been conducted on emotion recognition based on gaits and postures.

A survey study by Xu et al. [46] investigated numerous studies on gait analysis. They found that gait analysis can be used not only for subject identification but also for subject current emotion prediction. They discovered that people walking in different emotions exhibit different characteristics. This data can be used to perform automatic emotion recognition. When compared to traditional biometrics such as facial features, speech features, physiological features, and so forth, using gaits has several advantages. For instance, gaits can be observed from afar without the subject's awareness. It is difficult to imitate gaits. Gaits can be obtained without cooperation of the subject. Because of these advantages, gaits are effective form of expressions which can be used for automatic emotion recognition. Many different devices can be used to record gaits.

For example, a force plate can be used to record velocity and pressure data [14]. The infrared light barrier system is also effective for recording velocity data

[14, 23]. Motion capturing system such as Vicon can accurately capture coordinate data using markers attached to the body [3, 8, 9, 17, 29, 35, 44]. Microsoft Kinect is another useful tool for capturing human skeletons by combining depth and color images to predict the position of body joints [18, 21, 24, 25, 26, 27, 41. The accelerometer sensor on wearable devices like smartphones or smart watches can also record movement data for gait analysis [6, 34, 47]. There are several preprocessing steps that can be used after collecting gait data. For instance, low pass Butterworth filter [8, 15, 16], sliding window Gaussian filtering [24, 25]. Data transformation from time domain to others including Discrete Fourier Transform [24, 25, 41] and Discrete Wavelet Transform are also widely used [2, 13, 31]. Gait features are categorized into Spatio-temporal Features such as stride length, velocity, step width, step length and Kinematic Features such as coordinates data, joint angles, angular range of motion etc. Dimension reductions are also used e.g., Principal Component Analysis [7, 32, 36, 40, 45]. Finally, emotion recognition phase can be performed using many popular techniques, e.g., Multilayer Perceptrons [14], Naive Bayes [17, 24, 25], Nearest Neighbors [1, 17], Support Vector Machine [6, 17, 24, 25, 47], Decision Tree [1, 6, 47]. Finally, there are some interesting findings from several studies they surveyed. For happiness, the subject steps faster [30], strides are longer [10], arm movement is larger [10], and joint angle amplitude increases [35]. For sadness, the arm swing decreases [30], torso shape and limb shape contract [9], and joint angles amplitudes reduce [35].

There are many gait analysis studies proposed in recent decades. Several applications can be achieved by analyzing human gaits. The following are some ex-

amples; human identification or re-identification [18, 26, 27], gender prediction [12, 21], emotion prediction [14, 46], mental illness prediction [23, 29]. There are several aforementioned methods to collect gait data such as using force plate, light barrier, motion capturing system, video camera, accelerometer, and so forth. This study focuses only the methods that extract 3-dimensional coordinates, binary silhouette, and body parts angles as gait features since these gait features are sensitive to walking pattern. Most studies proposed nowadays used straight walking path in their experiments to achieve high quality gait data [3, 6, 14, 15, 16, 23, 24, 25, 29, 35, 36, 41, 44]. However, fewer studies used free-style walking path where the subjects can choose any walking pattern they wanted instead of straight walking [18, 21, 26, 27]. By developing methods for free-style walking data, opportunities for the proposed methods to be implemented in real-world scenarios, where humans are walking without awareness of being observed in public spaces, are increased because obtaining adequate straight walking data in a noisy environment is more difficult than free-style walking data.

Since Microsoft HoloLens 2 smart glasses were used to show the videos to each participant while they were walking, another issue to consider is whether or not watching content on smart glasses will interfere with gaits. Slips and trips pose a risk of negative effects. There are some studies done on this topic. Kim et al. [20] investigated gait performance while walking with a head-worn display. They used 12 participants in their experiments to see if the subjects could walk effectively in a variety of conditions while wearing a head-worn display or not. They measured the minimum foot clearance, the required coefficient of friction, the location of the foot placement around the obstacle, the walking speed, and the obstacle crossing speed. They discovered that using a head-worn display has no effect on level walking performance when compared to a paper list and baseline walking using nothing. When subjects used the head-worn display to perform obstacle crossing tasks, they choose a more conservative and cautious strategy, and their obstacle crossing speed decreases by 3% compared to the baseline. However, when using a head-worn display, the location of foot placement around the obstacle is unaffected.

Negative effects on human gaits when subjects use head-worn displays such as smart glasses while walking were investigated [38, 39]. In their experiments, 20 participants (10 men and 10 women) walked on a treadmill at their preferred walking speed in four different conditions. They asked the subjects to do one single-task walk and three dual-task walks while using different equipment to display information to them while walking. Participants in dual-task walkings conducted attention-demanding tasks on various display types. Stroop test, categorizing, and arithmetic are examples of attention-demanding tasks. Paper-based systems, smartphones, and smart glasses were used as displays in their experiments. The subjects use the head-down posture for paper-based displays and smartphones, but the head-up posture for single task walking and smart glasses display. Vicon motion capture system with 7 cameras was used for motion capture. They discovered that using smart glasses to perform tasks while walking has a greater impact on gait performance, such as stability, than using other types of display. They also discovered that smart glasses can interfere with the control of gait variables. However, when using a smartphone and

a paper-based system, participants are more unstable than when using smart glasses.

This study was designed to investigate the difference of human gaits in different emotions, arm swing is also an important movement of gaits which is considered in this study. It is possible that the movement of left arm and right arm can be asymmetric. Hence, studies related with asymmetric arm movement are explored. Kuhtz-Buschbeck and coworkers [22] performed the experiments to check whether the arm swing of left arm and right arm are symmetric when the subjects are walking on a treadmill. Dominant and non-dominant sides of body are possible causes if the arm swing is not symmetric. Three walking conditions were used in their experiments including forward walking, running, and backward walking. Sixteen subjects consisted of 8 men and 8 women participated in their study. Numbers of left-handed and right-handed are balanced. They found that arm swing is frequently asymmetric within the same subject i.e., nearly half of trials (47 of 96 trials) have significant side differences. There are 22 trials that have more arm swing in dominant hand side and 25 trials in non-dominant hand side. Majority of subjects have consistent asymmetric arm swing (10 of 16 subjects). Therefore, asymmetry in arm swing is a normal phenomenon regardless of dominant hand side.

Moreover, there is a recent study that investigated the asymmetry issue of arm swings when subjects are walking. Killeen et al. [19] performed tests on arm swing symmetry of 334 subjects including 176 male and 158 female subjects. The average age of subjects is 68.6 years with 5.9 years standard deviation. The subjects were asked to walk along 20 meters walkway and walk back for one minute. The walking postures when the subjects turning back were removed and only straight walking parts were used in their study. There were two walking velocity in this experiment including normal walking and fast walking. Both velocity were not specified and subjects could decided their own speed. Three tasks were performed by each subject. First task is normal walking, second task is fast walking, and third task is fast walking while doing serial subtraction which is a cognitive task during walking. In the third task, which is a dual-task walking, subjects were asked to not prioritize any task over another i.e., perform walking and serial subtraction equally. Their results reveal that the arm swing of left arm is significantly larger in all conditions. Subjects who have larger left arm swing also have more significantly different arm swing between single-task and dual-task walking. However, for the subjects who have larger right arm swing, they do not have significantly different arm swing between different tasks. Interestingly, asymmetry of arm swings is lower when the subjects are performing dual-task walking compared with single-task walking. About the dominant hand effect on arm swing, this study found that subject's dominant hand does not affect arm swing's asymmetry. Also, female subjects have lower asymmetric arm swings compared to male subjects. From this study, it is normal that left arm swings are larger than right arm swings when the subjects walk regardless of whether they are doing cognitive tasks or not.

According to these related studies, Microsoft HoloLens 2 can be used for displaying emotional videos to the participants while they are walking in the recording area, despite the possibilities that some negative effects, such as walking instability, can occur when using smart glasses while walking. This issue can be solved by asking the participants to take one rehearsal walk in the walking area without wearing HoloLens 2 to make them familiar with the walking area and one rehearsal walk with wearing HoloLens 2 that showed nothing to make them familiar with walking while wearing smart glasses at the same time.

About the walking pattern, straight walking should result in cleaner gait data, but it has more constraints when being implemented in real-world circumstances. However, walking freely without any path guidance will be tough for the subjects because they must concentrate on the video displayed on HoloLens 2 while walking. Hence, they will be unable to focus on the videos' content because they must decide the walking path at the same time. As a result, experiments were done with the lax circular walking path. Both straight and non-straight walking data can be obtained in one walking trial by walking circularly in a clockwise or counter-clockwise direction without marking the path line on the floor.

#### Chapter 3

### **Data Collection**

Data collection is the first process that was done for this study. Since there is no publicly available dataset that meets the requirements for studying the effects of non-straight walking behaviors according to different emotions, a novel data collection method that no one used before was applied to perform data collection.

Most previous researches in the fields of emotional recognition and analysis requested participants to walk in a straight line after watching emotional movies or to walk in a straight line while thinking about personal experiences. These settings have a number of flaws. When participants are instructed to walk after watching emotional videos, it is likely that some will not feel the same emotions till the end of the walk, or that some will not feel any emotion at all after watching the videos. As a result, the relationship between gaits and emotions may be inaccurate. In cases where participants were asked to feel certain ways based on personal experiences, it is possible that some participants will be unable to recall their feelings well enough to reflect on their body movements. These causes can result in incorrect information.

To avoid issues that lead to faulty information and an inaccurate relationship between gaits and emotions, the experiments are designed to make participants constantly incited with emotion-induced videos while walking. Microsoft

12

HoloLens 2, which is the latest smart glasses technology, was used to show videos to subjects while they were walking. To the best of my knowledge, this type of emotion induction method has never been used before. Using HoloLens 2 to display videos makes subjects to be able to see the room environment and the videos at the same time. Because emotional videos were shown to participants while they walk, the results are more similar to real-life situations in which a subject experiences some events and feels some emotions as a result of those events. In other words, this study tried to simulate the participants' real-time emotion by displaying them emotion-induced videos while they walked. Furthermore, the intensity of induced emotions should be more consistent than the conventional method, which had individuals watch emotional videos before walking. In reality, emotions of humans can be changed quickly in real-time according to the stimuli such as situations or events. However, inducing several emotions in one walking trial will be difficult to be done effectively. Because each subject has different perceptions of emotions e.g., not all subjects will feel sad when watching sad videos and not all subjects will feel happy when watching happy videos, it is possible that the perceived emotion of different subjects will be different from the annotated emotion of emotioninducing video even if the video is identical for all subjects. To cope with this challenge, if a video contains only one annotated emotion, asking the subjects about their perceived emotion and using the *Reported Emotion* for labeling a walking trial should be better than labeling a walking trial using the annotated emotion of the video i.e., *Expected Emotion* from the stimulus. However, because this study was designed to use HoloLens 2 for showing videos to the

subjects while walking, asking all subjects to report their perceived emotions can be done after finished walking only. If a video contains several annotated emotions, subjects need to report their perceived emotions several times which is very difficult to do during walking. Therefore, the scope of this study is limited to inducing only one emotion for an entire walking trial.



3.1 Equipment for Data Collection

Figure 3.1: Position of Front and Back Markers (Original Human Figure Source: dog012 on Sketchfab<sup>2</sup>)

There are two types of motion capturing technology currently available: markerless and marker-based systems. In markerless system, image processing technology uses depth data from an infrared camera and RGB images from a color camera to calculate the coordinates of body parts. Because there is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/man-5ae6bd9271ac4ee4905b96e5458f435d

no need to attach any equipment to the subject's body, markerless devices are more convenient to employ in real-life situations. For marker-based systems, multiple markers must be attached to the subject's body in the appropriate positions, such as the head, hand, elbow, etc. The marker-based device is more difficult to set up since it requires many cameras to record the infrared reflections from the markers attached to the subject's body in order to reconstruct markers coordinates in three dimensional space. However, body tracking accuracy of markerless device is lower than marker-based type since markerless system predicts the position of each body parts while marker-based type uses the actual position obtained from several cameras.



Figure 3.2: Attached Markers on Subject's Body

In this research, gait data were collected using OptiTrack, a well-known

marker-based motion capturing system. The standard 37-marker, which is the baseline marker set for human skeleton tracking, was used. With the baseline marker set configuration, 37 markers were attached to each subject's body. The names of the markers are listed in Table 3.1, and their positions are visualized in Figure 3.1. An example of the markers attachment on OptiTrack motion capture suit is shown in Figure 3.2. In this study, fourteen OptiTrack Flex 3 cameras were used for recording gait data. Two cameras were installed on each camera stand as shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Two OptiTrack Flex 3 Cameras were Installed on One Camera Stand at Different Height Levels

### 3.2 Recording Environment



Figure 3.4: Rectangle Walking Area Marked with Black Tape on the Floor

The black tape was used to mark a rectangle on the floor as the walking area that the OptiTrack motion tracking system can capture, as shown in Figure 3.4. On seven camera stands, fourteen OptiTrack Flex 3 motion capture cameras were installed. That is, two cameras at different heights on each stand, as shown in Figure 3.3. In Figure 3.5, seven camera stands were placed around the walking area. And the walking area is 2.9 meters by 3.64 meters in size.



Figure 3.5: Size of Walking Area and Position of Recording Equipment (Opti-Track Flex 3)

## 3.3 Materials for Data Collection

Three videos were selected as stimuli for emotion induction. HoloLens 2 were used for showing videos to the subjects while they walked in the recording area.

#### • Neutral Video:

The nature landscape video from YouTube named Spectacular drone shots of Iowa corn fields uploaded by the YouTube user named The American Bazaar<sup>3</sup>

 $<sup>^{3} \</sup>tt https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=4R9HpESkor8$ 

#### • Negative Video:

An emotional movie selected from *LIRIS-ACCEDE* database named *Para*fundit by *Riccardo Melato* 

#### • Positive Video:

An emotional movie selected from *LIRIS-ACCEDE* database named *Tears* of steel by *Ian Hubert* and *Ton Roosendaal* 

The neutral video was chosen from nature landscape videos on YouTube that should not elicit any emotion. Positive video (inducing happy emotion) and negative video (inducing sad emotion) were chosen from the public annotated movie database<sup>4</sup> published by Baveye et al. [4]. Many creative commons movies and their emotional annotations are presented in this database. In this study, two movies from the Continuous LIRIS-ACCEDE collection were selected. This movie collection contains 30 movies and emotion annotations in Valence-Arousal ranking.

Most movies contain both positive and negative valence. To create an entire walking trial containing only one emotion, one movie with positive valence for the entire movie and one movie with negative valence for the entire movie were selected. The length of each video is also an issue need to be concerned, so all of the videos used in this study are less than than 15 minutes in length. The lengths of the neutral video, negative movie, and positive movie are 5:04, 13:10, and 12:14 minutes, respectively. The audio of both negative and positive videos includes music, sound effects, and conversations in English. When subjects

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>https://liris-accede.ec-lyon.fr/

walk, they can hear the sound from the built-in speakers of HoloLens 2. The neutral video has no sound to ensure that it does not elicit any emotion.

#### 3.4 Methods for Data Collection

Each participant was asked to answer the health questionnaire and sign the consent form in the beginning of the experiments. Questions in the health questionnaire are listed below.

- 1. Do you have any neurological or mental disorders?
- 2. Do you have a severe level of anxiety or depression?
- 3. Do you have hearing impairment that cannot be corrected?
- 4. Do you have any permanent disability or body injury that affects walking posture?
- 5. Do you currently feel sick now? (e.g., fever, headache, stomachache etc.)
- 6. If you have any problem with your health condition, please describe.

Each subject was instructed to walk in a circular pattern inside the marked rectangle space after he or she was confirmed to be healthy, i.e., that subject could walk, watch, and listen normally. Participants could choose whether they wanted to walk clockwise or counter-clockwise. Participants were free to change directions at any time during each walking trial. To establish a subject's natural walking style, Each subject was asked to walk in the recording area for



Figure 3.6: Data Collection Process

3 minutes without wearing the HoloLens 2. The objective of the first walking trial *(Rehearsal Walk)* is to familiarize the subject with the walking space.

The second *Rehearsal Walk* was conducted for each subject by walking for another 3 minutes while wearing HoloLens 2 that did not display any content to familiarize them with walking while wearing HoloLens 2. According to the findings of the following studies: [20, 38, 39], if participants have never used smart glasses while walking before, gait performance can be unstable. Before performing actual recording, subjects were instructed to take rehearsal walks with and without HoloLens 2.

Then, Neutral Video was shown on HoloLens 2 and each subject was re-


Figure 3.7: A Subject Wearing Microsoft HoloLens 2

quested to walk while watching the video to capture Neutral Walk. Each subject began to walk when the video started and stopped walking when the video ended. As described in Section 3.3, Positive Walk and Negative Walk were performed using Positive Video and Negative Video from the LIRIS-ACCEDE database. These videos were shown on HoloLens 2 while each subject was walking using the same procedure with Neutral Walk. As shown in Figure 3.7, HoloLens 2 has a transparent view so the subjects can see videos and room environment while walking unlike other virtual reality (VR) devices. Furthermore, after completing Positive Walk, subjects have to take a 10-minute break to allow their emotions to return to normal before beginning Negative Walk. For the next subject, the order of Negative Walk and Positive Walk was reversed. That is, swapping between Neutral, Positive, Negative and Neutral, Negative,

*Positive*. Entire process for data collection is shown in Figure 3.6. Each subject was also asked to answer the self-reported emotion questionnaire before and after walking for each video. The questions are as follows.

- Please choose your current feeling: Happy, Sad, Neither (Not Sad and Not Happy)
- 2. How intense was your feeling: 1 (Very Little) to 5 (Very Much)

### 3.5 Collected Dataset

There are 49 participants, with 41 men and 8 women. Participants' average age is 19.69 years. The standard deviation of the ages of the participants is 1.40 years. The average height is 168.49 centimeters. The standard deviation of the heights is 6.34 centimeters. The average weight is 58.88 kilograms. The standard deviation of the weights is 10.84 kilograms. Each subject walked around and watched three videos: *Neutral Video, Negative Video, and Positive Video.* In total, there are 147 walking trials. For the order of videos shown to the subjects, 24 subjects watched *Negative Video* before *Positive Video*, and 25 subjects watched *Positive Video* before *Negative Video*.

According to the answers from self-reported emotion questionnaire after finished walking and watching each video, this dataset contains 44 Sad walking trials, 44 Happy walking trial, and 59 Neither walking trials. These emotion tags (Reported Emotion) were used in the analysis instead of emotion tag of the videos (Expected Emotion) since not all subjects feel Happy after watching *Positive Video* and not all subjects feel *Sad* after watching *Negative Video*. Table 3.2 shows the numbers of subjects who felt Happy, Sad, and Neither from the self-reported emotion questionnaire for each video stimulus.

Figure 3.8 shows a sample image of a subject walking in a circular pattern in the recording area while watching a video on HoloLens 2, and Figure 3.9 shows a close-up photo of a subject wearing the OptiTrack motion capture suit with 37 markers and walk while watching a video on HoloLens 2.

One of the 147 walking trials was corrupted during recording, so there are 146 usable walking trials. For the direction of walking, there are 99 counterclockwise walking trials, 21 clockwise walking trials, and 26 walking trials which have both clockwise and counter-clockwise in one walk.



Figure 3.8: Sample of Walking Subject while Watching Video on HoloLens 2



Figure 3.9: A Subject Walking while Watching a Video on HoloLens 2 and Wearing OptiTrack Suit for Motion Capturing

HeadTop							
HeadFront							
HeadSide							
BackTop							
Chest							
Back	Left						
Dack	Right						
WaistFront	Left						
vvaisti rom	Right						
WaistBack	Left						
WalbuDack	Right						
ShoulderBack	Left						
Diffunction	Right						
ShoulderTop	Left						
bilouider rop	Right						
ElbowOut	Left						
LIDOWOUU	Right						
UpperArmHigh	Left						
opperminingi	Right						
WristOut	Left						
VV1150040	Right						
WristIn	Left						
VV1150111	Right						
HandOut	Left						
mandout	Right						
ThightFront	Left						
1 mgm01 10m	Right						
KneeOut	Left						
Ruccout	Right						
Shin	Left						
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Right						
AnkleOut	Left						
MikicOut	Right						
ToeOut	Left						
100000	Right						
ToeIn	Left						
TOCIII	Right						

Table 3.1: List of OptiTrack Baseline Markers

Table 3.2	2: Comparison	of Expected	Emotion	from	Stimuli	and R	leported	Emo-
tion from	a Self-Reported	d Questionna	ire					

Stimuli \Reported Emotion	Happy	Sad	Neither
Positive Movie	12	23	14
Negative Movie	13	19	17
Neutral Movie	19	2	28

## Chapter 4

## **Data Preprocessing**

All recorded data can contain meaningful data and noise together. Preprocessing was performed to clean up the data and remove the data which are not meaningful as well as the noise after extracting 3-dimensional coordinates of 37 body markers recorded by OptiTrack from the recorded walking trial.

First, one minute of data was removed from the beginning and the end of each walking trial. Therefore, the initial 6000 frames and the last 6000 frames from each walking trial were removed since the OptiTrack motion recording equipment can capture markers coordinates data at 100 frames per second.

Walking Straightness and Body Parts Angles were extracted throughout the feature extraction process. The process of feature extraction is described in Section 5. However, as shown in Figure 4.1, the preprocessing methods for Walking Straightness and Body Parts Angles are different. The preprocessing steps are described separately below.

After removing first 6000 and last 6000 frames, for *Walking Straightness* feature extraction, the position of *Left Foot* and *Right Foot* were used for straightness calculation. Therefore, each frame was checked whether the coordinates data of *LeftAnkleOut* and *RightAnkleOut* are available. If these two markers data were missing in any frame, that frame was excluded from straightness calculation.

27

In addition to removing the first and last 6000 frames for *Body Parts Angles* feature extraction, any frame that showed arm movements that were not part of natural walking was also excluded. For example, if the subjects raised their arms to check the time on their watches, or tried to adjust the position of their HoloLens 2 smart glasses, or scratched their heads while walking, these frames were also removed. The Y-coordinates of arm-related markers, such as left and right *HandOut*, *WristOut*, *WristIn*, and *ElbowOut* were checked during this preprocessing stage. For each arm-related marker, mean value and standard deviation value of its Y-coordinate among each walking trial were calculated. If the Y-coordinate in any frame is less than  $Mean - 2 \times SD$  or more than  $Mean + 2 \times SD$ , that frame was removed from the angle calculation.



Figure 4.1: Preprocessing Steps for Straightness and Angles

# Chapter 5

### **Feature Extraction**

After preprocessing of the coordinate data, there were some missing frames in between each walking trial. As a result, the walking trial is no longer connected. This issue was coped before continuing to the next step by splitting a walking trial into multiple chunks based on the missing frames. If there were more than 25 contiguous missing frames, the next usable frame was split into new walking chunks. However, the next available frames were kept in the same chunk if the length of the missing frames was less than 25 frames. Figure 5.1 shows a diagram of chunk splitting. Any chunk that was less than 50 frames (0.5 second) was discarded because it was too small and unusable.

Walking steps were detected first to calculate the straightness of a walking trial. For each chunk, the distances between the left and right feet in topview for all frame were calculated. That is, calculating the Euclidean distance between the X and Z coordinates of the left and right feet. The data was then smoothed using the Savitzky-Golay filter before detecting the peaks of distance value from each chunk. Walking steps can be detected by locating peaks in distance between two feet. Any chunk that had fewer than three steps was also discarded.

Straightness of walking in each chunk was computed by using 3 consecutive walking steps. An example diagram of straightness calculation from 3 consecu-



Figure 5.1: Split a Walking Trial into Chunks for Straightness and Angle Calculation

tive steps is shown in Figure 5.2. In this figure,  $Step \ \#1$  to  $Step \ \#2$  is the left step, and  $Step \ \#2$  to  $Step \ \#3$  is the right step. Therefore, the first straightness value for  $Step \ \#1$  to  $Step \ \#3$  is the angle between the vector of left step (*Step* #1 to  $Step \ \#2$ ) and right step (*Step \ \#2* to  $Step \ \#3$ ). The detailed process of straightness calculation is as follows.

- 1. If Step #1 to Step #2 is left step, define the left step vector  $v_{left12}$  as a vector from (X, Z) point of Step #1 to (X, Z) point of Step #2
- 2. Define the right step vector  $v_{right23}$  as a vector from (X, Z) point of Step #2 to (X, Z) point of Step #3

Straightness = Angle Between Vector of Left Step and Vector of Right Step (Left: Step #1 to Step #2 | Right: Step #2 to Step #3)



Straightness = Angle Between Vector of Left Step and Vector of Right Step (Left: Step #3 to Step #4 | Right: Step #2 to Step #3)



Figure 5.2: Finding Angles between Left and Right Vector to Calculate Straightness

- 3. Calculate angle  $\theta_{13}$  of  $v_{left12}$  to  $v_{right23}$
- 4. Define the next left step vector v<sub>left34</sub> as a vector from (X, Z) point of Step #3 to (X, Z) point of Step #4
- 5. Calculate angle  $\theta_{24}$  of  $v_{left34}$  to  $v_{right23}$
- Define the next right step vector v<sub>right45</sub> as a vector from (X, Z) point of Step #4 to (X, Z) point of Step #5
- 7. Calculate angle  $\theta_{35}$  of  $v_{left34}$  to  $v_{right45}$
- 8. If Step #1 to Step #2 is right step, vector from (X, Z) point of Step #1 to (X, Z) point of Step #2 will be v<sub>right12</sub>, and vector from (X, Z) point of Step #2 to (X, Z) point of Step #3 will be v<sub>left23</sub> instead. This rule applied to all consecutive steps i.e., θ<sub>13</sub> is angle between v<sub>right12</sub> to v<sub>left23</sub>, θ<sub>24</sub> is angle between v<sub>right34</sub> to v<sub>left23</sub> and θ<sub>35</sub> is angle between v<sub>right34</sub> to v<sub>left45</sub>.
- 9. Continue calculating the angle between left and right vector until finishing each chunk
- 10. Angle between left and right step vector was used as straightness value of the frames consisting these steps.

After calculating straightness for each 3 consecutive steps, straightness value was assigned to all frames containing these steps. Next, angles between three body part markers were calculated, such as the angle between *LeftShoulderBack*  to *LeftUpperArmHigh* and *LeftShoulderBack* to *BackLeft*. As indicated in Table 5.1, a total of 24 angles were calculated from each of the three markers.

In each frame, there are 24 angles and their straightness values. Frames were grouped into 7 straightness groups using their assigned straightness value. These seven straightness groups include one straight walking group and six curved walking group as follows.

- $-35^{\circ}$  to  $-25^{\circ}$  (Large Curved Walking Clockwise)
- -25° to -15° (Moderate Curved Walking Clockwise)
- -15° to -5° (Small Curved Walking Clockwise)
- $-5^{\circ}$  to  $5^{\circ}$  (Straight Walking)
- 5° to 15° (Small Curved Walking Counter-Clockwise)
- + 15° to 25° (Moderate Curved Walking Counter-Clockwise)
- 25° to 35° (Large Curved Walking Counter-Clockwise)

However, because 3 consecutive steps were used for computing the straightness values, the frames containing connecting steps between each of 3 consecutive steps always have two straightness values. For instance, the straightness value of *Step #1* to *Step #3* was derived from the angle between *Step #1* and *Step #2* and *Step #2* and *Step #3*, and the straightness value of *Step #2* to *Step #4* was derived from the angle between *Step #2* and *Step #3* and *Step #3* and *Step #4*. Hence, there are two straightness values for the frames containing *Step #2* to *Step #3*. The average straightness value of *Step #1*  to Step #3 and Step #2 to Step #4 was calculated and assigned to these frames. Then, the mean and standard deviation of each angle in each straightness group were then calculated for using in the statistical analyses.

Walking directions of all walking trials were also examined. Because participants were advised to walk in a circular path inside the recording area, but there was no designated path. By analyzing the walking pattern, there are some participants who walked in an excessively curved pattern while others walked in a very straight pattern inside the recording area because each subject chose his or her own path to walk. As a result, in one walking trial, there were multiple walking curvatures, such as straight walking and non-straight (curved) walking. Figure 5.3 shows samples of walking trajectories for six participants. Walking paths of the first two participants are curved and closer to an oval shape, whereas the next two subjects' walking paths are mostly straight with some curved areas only when they turned which seems like a rounded-rectangle shape. The last two participants have very random walking paths with several trajectories and several circle size. As a result, this dataset contains several walking trajectories and curvature which can be defined as *direction-free* walking since the participants were free to select their own walking paths and trajectories in either a clockwise or counter-clockwise direction.

Angle Index	Terminal Point #1	Initial Point	Terminal Point $#2$		
1	LeftAnkleOut	LeftKneeOut	WaistLeftFront		
2	RightAnkleOut	RightKneeOut	WaistRightFront		
3	LeftShin	LeftKneeOut	LeftThigh		
4	RightShin	RightKneeOut	RightThigh		
5	LeftKneeOut	LeftThigh	WaistLeftFront		
6	RightKneeOut	RightThigh	WaistRightFront		
7	LeftThigh	WaistLeftFront	Chest		
8	RightThigh	WaistRightFront	Chest		
9	WaistLeftFront	Chest	LeftShoulderTop		
10	WaistRightFront	Chest	RightShoulderTop		
11	LeftKneeOut	WaistLeftBack	BackLeft		
12	RightKneeOut	WaistRightBack	BackRight		
13	WaistLeftBack	BackLeft	LeftShoulderBack		
14	WaistRightBack	BackRight	RightShoulderBack		
15	LeftShoulderBack	BackTop	HeadTop		
16	RightShoulderBack	BackTop	HeadTop		
17	BackLeft	BackTop	HeadTop		
18	BackRight	BackTop	HeadTop		
19	BackLeft	LeftShoulderBack	LeftUpperArmHigh		
20	BackRight	RightShoulderBack	RightUpperArmHigh		
21	BackTop	LeftShoulderBack	LeftUpperArmHigh		
22	BackTop	RightShoulderBack	RightUpperArmHigh		
23	LeftUpperArmHigh	LeftElbowOut	LeftWristOut		
24	RightUpperArmHigh	RightElbowOut	RightWristOut		

Table 5.1: List of Angles between Each 3 Markers



Figure 5.3: Sample of Walking Path for Each Subject

## Chapter 6

# Statistical Analysis of Gait Features

The following analyses were performed on the mean and standard deviation values of each angle data.

## 6.1 One-way Analysis of Variance

### 6.1.1 Methodology

One-way analysis of variance (one-way ANOVA) was performed to check whether emotional differences have effect with movements of each body part when a subject was walking. Both *Expected Emotion* which is the emotion label from video stimuli and *Reported Emotion* which is the emotion label from self-reported questionnaire answers were used.

- Factor to Test: Expected Emotion (Positive, Negative, Neutral) and Reported Emotion (Happy, Sad, Neither)
- **Dependent Variable:** Mean value and SD value of each angle in each straightness group

One-way ANOVA was used to compare mean and SD values of all angles in each straightness group for two types of emotions including *Expected Emotion*  and *Reported Emotion*. Mean and SD values of angles were compared separately according to their straightness groups in this analysis.

### 6.1.2 Results

One-way ANOVA was used for checking the effects of *Expected Emotion* and *Reported Emotion* on movements of body parts. Detailed results of ANOVA test on mean and SD of each angle in each straightness group are shown in Table 1 for *Expected Emotion*, and Table 2 for *Reported Emotion*.

According to the significantly different mean and SD of each angle in each straightness group from one-way ANOVA, Tukey Test was then performed for each of them to check which pairs of emotions significantly affected body movements i.e., *Happy vs Sad*, *Neither vs Sad* and *Neither vs Happy*. Table 6.1 and Table 6.2 show all emotion pairs and all angles which have significantly different mean or SD for *Expected Emotion* and *Reported Emotion* respectively.

Table 6.1: Tukey Test Results of Significantly Different Mean and SD of Each Angle in Each Straightness Group (Factor: Expected Emotion)

Straightness Group	Walking Direction	Туре	Significant Angle Between 3 Markers	Significant Pair	P-Value from Tukey HSD of Significant Pair
25°to 35°	Counter-clockwise	SD	RightShoulderBack BackTop HeadTop	Negative Video vs Neutral Video	0.0405

As shown in Table 1 and Table 6.1, in all straightness groups, there is only one SD of angle that is significantly different for *Expected Emotion*. That is, *RightShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop* in the 25° to 35°, and the pair that has a significant effect is *Negative Video vs Neutral Video*. Therefore, difference only occurred with high curvature walk in counter-clockwise direction which is the magnitude of head movement between *Negative Video* and *Neutral Video*.

From Table 2, many mean or SD values of angles are significantly different for *Reported Emotion*. Then, Tukey test with each mean or SD value was performed to check which pair of emotions have significantly different body movements. The results of Tukey test are shown in 6.2. In each walking straightness group, at least one mean or SD value of body parts angles was affected by emotional differences, and the SD values of *BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh* are significantly different between *Happy* and *Sad* emotions. The SD value of this angle can be interpreted as *Left Arm Swing Magnitude*. This angle is illustrated in Figure 6.1. According to one-way ANOVA results, the results suggest that *Left Arm Swing Magnitude* is significantly different between *Happy* and *Sad* emotion regardless of walking straightness.

Table 6.2: Tukey Test Results of Significantly Different Mean and SD of Each Angle in Each Straightness Group (Factor: Reported Emotion)

	P-Value from	Tukey HSD of	Significant Pair	0.0222	0.0382	0.0070	0.0338	0.0095	0.0394	0.0017	0.0103	0.0018	0.0464	0.0313	0.0258	0.0250	0.0405	0.0380	0.0088	0.0363	0.0442	0.0342	0.0027	0.0075
		Significant Pair		Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Neither vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Neither	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Neither vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Happy vs Sad	Neither vs Sad
	Cimuiff court A scale	Batwaan 3 Markaws		BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	Biwht AulthoOnt BiwhtKnooOnt WoistBiwhtEwont	and tangantages we conceant and conversions of the second states of the	WaistLeftFront-Chest-LeftShoulderTop	WaistRightFront-Chest-RightShoulderTop	LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	BackTop-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	BackTop-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	RightShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	BackTop-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	Book Off 1 off Chambeak I off I and a Minuk	Dack Detri-Detromotionine Dack-Detro ppet ALIMITISH	RightShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	BackTop-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	DoobT off T off Chondron down a chill war A www Uiseh	חמנגנווו וא זשקע טושע-אשמעם וווווווניושלים אשמעם שמנו
ΠΟΓΛΟΤΙ		$\mathbf{Type}$		SD	Moon	INTEGHT	SD	SD	SD	SD	SD	SD	SD	SD	SD	SD	Mean	Mean	GD	Лc	Mean	Mean	сD	חמ
TT TREDOTRED TT	W.c.II	Direction		Clockwise		Clockwise							Cloalmino	CIUCKWISE	Straight	Counter-clockwise		Counter-clockwise				Counter-clockwise		
anon (r. acor	Ctuo: whte occ	Croin digitates	dnoin	-35° to -25°		-25° to -15°							1 то то то то	r- n1 rt-	$-5^{\circ}$ to $5^{\circ}$	$5^{\circ}$ to $15^{\circ}$		$15^{\circ}$ to $25^{\circ}$				$25^\circ \text{ to } 35^\circ$		



Figure 6.1: Angle of BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh (Arm Swing) in Body Skeleton Image (Original Human Figure Source: dog012 on Sketchfab<sup>2</sup>)

As shown in Table 2 and Table 6.2, only left arm swing is significantly different when subjects walk in happy and sad emotions but right arm swing is not. To investigate this issue, inside and outside status of the arm and walking curvature were examined. In circular walking, one arm side is inside while another arm side is outside of the walking path. Relationships between walking curvature and behavior of left and right arm swings as well as inside-outside status of that arm in each emotion were investigated by plotting the arm swing magnitude of the left arm and right arm in all emotions with its curvature level

 $<sup>^{2} \</sup>texttt{https://sketchfab.com/3d-models/man-5ae6bd9271ac4ee4905b96e5458f435d}$ 



Figure 6.2: Plot of Left Arm Swing in All Emotions (with 95% Confident Interval Error Bars)



Figure 6.3: Plot of Right Arm Swing in All Emotions (with 95% Confident Interval Error Bars)

and its inside-outside status in Figure 6.2 and Figure 6.3. Walking direction can be used to determined the inside-outside status of each arm i.e., the left arm is outside and the right arm is inside when subjects are walking in the clockwise direction, and in the counter-clockwise direction, the left arm is inside and the right arm is outside. For curvature level, it can be determined from the straightness value. If the straightness value is between  $-35^{\circ}$  and  $-25^{\circ}$  or  $25^{\circ}$  and  $35^{\circ}$ , it can be considered large curved walking, and if the straightness value is  $-5^{\circ}$  to  $5^{\circ}$ , it can be considered as straight walking. For the direction, minus sign means clockwise, while plus sign means counter-clockwise.

Left arm swing magnitude with its inside-outside status and the curvature level is shown in Figure 6.2. In this figure, when the arm is outside in high curvature walking, there is a large difference between happy and sad. When the curvature decreases, the difference is also reduced but it is still large enough to distinguish between happy and sad emotions. For inside-outside status, the difference between happy and sad is smaller when the arm is inside than when the arm is outside. For right arm swing (Figure 6.3), happy and sad has smaller difference than left arm swing for all curvature levels, but when the right arm is outside in high curvature level, the arm swing is also higher than when the subject walks in a smaller curvature and the right arm is inside.

### 6.2 Multi-Factor Analysis of Variance

### 6.2.1 Methodology

Based on the results of one-way ANOVA, *Reported Emotion* has more differences in body movements between emotions than *Expected Emotion*. Result of *Expected Emotion* is listed in Table 6.1 and only one straightness group has significantly different mean or SD of angle. In Table 6.2, *Reported Emotion* has one or more significantly different mean or SD of angles in all straightness groups. Therefore, only *Reported Emotion* is focused from now on.

While analyzing *Reported Emotion*, some straightness groups have several significantly different mean or SD values of angles whereas some straightness groups have only one significantly different mean or SD value of angle. From one-way ANOVA analysis results, the angle named *BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh* has significantly different SD value between *Happy* and *Sad* regardless of curvature level and inside-outside status of the arm.

Multi-factor ANOVA was performed to test several factors including *Reported Emotion*, *Curvature*, *Angle Side*, and combination of these factors. Unlike the one-way ANOVA that was performed separately for each straightness group, multi-factor ANOVA was performed with all straightness groups at once.

For *Reported Emotion*, the arm swing magnitudes were checked whether they are significantly affected by emotions regardless of other factors.

For *Curvature*, the straightness groups were converted to curvature values before performing multi-factor ANOVA. A sign of curvature value (plus or minus) was selected by checking that the left arm and right arm were *Inside* or

Straightness	Actual Side	Ingido / Outgido	Resulting
Group	Actual Side		Curvature Value
$35^\circ$ to $25^\circ$	Left	Outside	+30
-33 10 -23	Right	Inside	-30
$25^{\circ}$ to $15^{\circ}$	Left	Outside	+20
-20 10 -10	Right	Inside	-20
$15^\circ$ to $5^\circ$	Left	Outside	+10
-10 00-0	Right	Inside	-10
$5^\circ$ to $5^\circ$	Left	-	0
-0 00 0	Right	-	0
$5^{\circ}$ to $15^{\circ}$	Left	Inside	-10
5 10 15	Right	Outside	+10
$15^{\circ}$ to $25^{\circ}$	Left	Inside	-20
10 10 20	Right	Outside	+20
$25^{\circ} \pm 25^{\circ}$	Left	Inside	-30
20 10 33	Right	Outside	+30

Table 6.3: Conversion from Straightness Group to Curvature for Multi-Factor ANOVA (Plus Sign for Outside and Minus Sign for Inside)

*Outside* when walking in the circular walking path. For all curved walking groups, *outside arm used plus sign*, and *inside arm used minus sign* as shown in Table 6.3. For straight walking group, the curvature was 0 for both left arm and right arm since there was no inside or outside in straight walk. By checking the *curvature* factor, the curvatures of walking (small curve, moderate curve, large curve) and the status of that left arm and right arm (inside or outside) can be checked that they have a significant effect on arm swing magnitudes or not. As this dataset has circular walking path which is never used in conventional studies, it is useful to explore whether the outside arm swing and inside arm swing when the subjects are walking circularly are symmetric. If left and right arm swings are not symmetric, this means that one side will be clearer to distinguish subjects' current emotion. Also, curvature of walking should be a reason that affect the arm swing.

For *Angle Side*, in one-way ANOVA test, only left arm swing is significantly different between happy and sad emotion. The arm side (left and right) was also checked if it has an effect on arm swing magnitudes or not.

Multi-factor analysis were performed on these factors as follows.

- Reported Emotion: Happy, Sad, Neither
- Curvature: -30, -20, -10, 0, 10, 20, 30
- Angle Side: Left, Right
- Reported Emotion × Curvature: Happy/-30, Sad/0, Neither/10 etc.
- Reported Emotion × Angle Side: Happy/Left, Happy/Right, Sad/Left, Sad Right etc.
- Curvature × Angle Side: -30/Left, -20/Right, 10/Left etc.
- Reported Emotion × Curvature × Angle Side: Happy/-30/Left, Sad/20/Right etc.

### 6.2.2 Results

The results of multi-factor ANOVA are shown in Table 6.4. There are some factors which significantly affected arm swing magnitude i.e., *Reported Emotion* and *Walking Curvature*. In addition, interaction effects between *Reported Emotion with Angle Side* and *Walking Curvature with Angle Side* were found.

Tukey test was performed to check the *Reported Emotion* factor. The results from the Tukey test are shown in Table 6.5. According to Table 6.5, all pairs

of emotions (*Happy vs Neither*, *Happy vs Sad*, and *Neither vs Sad*) significantly affected arm swing magnitude, regardless of any other factor.

Factor	Degrees of Freedom	F-Value	P-Value
Reported Emotion	2	37.6727	0.0000
Curvature	6	7.7684	0.0000
Angle Side	1	1.8913	0.1693
Reported Emotion $\times$ Curvature	12	0.7883	0.6631
Reported Emotion × Angle Side	2	5.3906	0.0047
Curvature × Angle Side	6	3.4769	0.0020
Reported Emotion $\times$ Curvature $\times$ Angle Side	12	0.8923	0.5543

Table 6.4: Results of Multi-Factor ANOVA

Table 6.5: Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey Test of Reported Emotion

Significant Pair	P-Value from Tukey Test
Happy vs Neither	0.0011
Happy vs Sad	0.0000
Neither vs Sad	0.0000

# 6.3 Linear Regression Analysis

### 6.3.1 Methodology

Because of the difference between behaviors of left arm swings and right arm swings. That is, the left arm swing is significantly different among emotions while the right arm swing is not. Linear regression analysis was performed with the left arm swings and right arm swings to check if the regression slopes of each arm side are similar or not. The regression equation is as follows.

$$Y = \alpha + \beta \times X \tag{6.1}$$

In this equation,  $\alpha$  is the intercept,  $\beta$  is the slope, X is the curvature value, and Y is the predicted arm swing magnitude. In linear regression,  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  values that can minimize the differences between predicted arm swing magnitude  $(Y_{Predict})$  and actual arm swing magnitude (Y) for each curvature value were computed for each emotion in each arm side.

The regression equations for left arm swing magnitude in each emotion are as follows.

$$ArmSwing_{HappyLeft} = \alpha_{HappyLeft} + \beta_{HappyLeft} \times Curvature$$
(6.2)

$$ArmSwing_{SadLeft} = \alpha_{SadLeft} + \beta_{SadLeft} \times Curvature \tag{6.3}$$

$$ArmSwing_{NeitherLeft} = \alpha_{NeitherLeft} + \beta_{NeitherLeft} \times Curvature$$
(6.4)

The regression equations for right arm swing magnitude in each emotion are as follows.

$$ArmSwing_{HappyRight} = \alpha_{HappyRight} + \beta_{HappyRight} \times Curvature$$
(6.5)

$$ArmSwing_{SadRight} = \alpha_{SadRight} + \beta_{SadRight} \times Curvature \tag{6.6}$$

$$ArmSwing_{NeitherRight} = \alpha_{NeitherRight} + \beta_{NeitherRight} \times Curvature$$
(6.7)

The  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  values of left arm swing and right arm swing for happy, sad, and neither emotion are computed separately. For the left arm, if  $\beta_{HappyLeft}$ ,  $\beta_{SadLeft}$ , and  $\beta_{NeitherLeft}$  are equal, the slopes of all emotions are similar which means that emotional differences have no significant effect with the left arm swing magnitude in each curvature. For the right arm,  $\beta_{HappyRight}$ ,  $\beta_{SadRight}$ , and  $\beta_{NeitherRight}$  are checked whether they are equal. The same rule used for the left arm can be used to check that emotional differences significantly affect the right arm swing or not.

### 6.3.2 Results

The results of linear regression of each emotion for left arm are as follows.

- Happy:  $\alpha = 4.5521, \beta = 0.0259$
- Neither:  $\alpha = 3.8916, \beta = 0.0017$
- Sad:  $\alpha = 3.1764, \beta = 0.0038$

And for right arm, the results are as follows.

- Happy:  $\alpha = 4.2854, \beta = 0.0206$
- Neither:  $\alpha = 4.0596, \beta = 0.0227$
- Sad:  $\alpha = 3.6643, \beta = 0.0142$

According to these results, for left arm swings, the  $\beta$  values from linear regression of happy and sad are much different ( $\beta = 0.0259$  and  $\beta = 0.0038$ , respectively) which suggest that the left arm swing magnitude when the subjects feel happy is much different from the left arm swing magnitude when the subjects feel sad since the slope of these two emotions are significantly different.

For right arm swings, the  $\beta$  values of happy and sad are also different, but the difference is smaller than that in the left arm swings ( $\beta = 0.0206$  and  $\beta = 0.0142$ , respectively). Therefore, the right arm swing magnitudes when the subjects feel happy and when the subjects feel sad are also different from each other but the difference is not as much as the left arm.

Additionally, the slope of left arm swings in neither emotion is much different from the slopes of left arm swing in happy and sad emotions ( $\beta = 0.0017$ ). But the slope of the right arm swing in neither emotion is quite similar to the slope of right arm swing in happy emotion ( $\beta = 0.0227$ ). Consequently, arm swing in neither emotion is significantly different compared to happy and sad emotions for the left arm side, but for the right arm side, arm swing in neither emotion is quite similar to arm swing in happy emotion.

In summary, emotional differences largely affected the slopes for the left arm side, but not so much for the right arm side. These results agree with the results of one-way ANOVA.

# Chapter 7

# **Collection of Second Dataset**

From all statistical analyses performed, there are some issues that remain unclear. For example, only left arm swing is significantly different in different emotions while right arm swing follows the similar trend but the difference is not significant. Also, the first dataset contains very fewer number of female subjects compared to male subjects. It is a good idea to check if female and male subjects reflect their emotions on arm movement differently. About the asymmetry of left and right body side issue, it can be possible that this issue occurred because of the dominant hand of the subjects. However, the dominant hand data for the first dataset was not collected. Therefore, another dataset which consists of balance numbers of male and female subjects as well as dominant hand data was collected for further investigation.

# 7.1 Data Collection Methods

The second dataset was collected with similar procedures as the first dataset mentioned in Chapter 3. The dominant hand, dominant foot, and dominant brain side data were collected to be used for checking if these factors affect with the arm movements of left and right body side. Questionnaires for collection of these additional data and their results are described in Section 7.1.1.

#### 7.1.1 Collected Dataset

In this dataset, university students were recruited to participate in the experiments. There are 10 male and 13 female subjects. The average age of all subjects is 19.91 years with 3.04 years standard deviation. The average height among all subjects are 164.93 centimeters. The standard deviation of the heights is 9.58 centimeters. The average weight of subjects is 57.32 kilograms with 11.32 kilograms standard deviation.

Dominant hand data of participants were collected using the modified version of Flinders Handedness survey questions published by Left Handers Association of Japan to make the questions more appropriate with Japanese culture. The dominant hand or handedness checking questions are available at https:// lefthandedlife.net/faq003.html. These questions are in Japanese language so the participants can understand easily. The questions in Japanese and their English translations are as follows.

1. 文字を書くとき、どちらの手でペン(筆記具)を持ちますか?

When writing, which hand do you hold a pen (writing instrument)?

2. 食事をするとき、どちらの手でスプーンを持ちますか?

When you eat, which hand do you hold the spoon?

3. 歯を磨くとき、どちらの手で歯ブラシを持ちますか?

When brushing your teeth, which hand do you hold your toothbrush?

4. マッチを擦るとき、どちらの手でマッチ棒を持ちますか?

When you rub a match, which hand do you hold the matchstick?

5. 消しゴムで文字や図画を消すとき、どちらの手で消しゴムを持ちます か?

When erasing letters and drawings with an eraser, which hand do you hold the eraser?

- 6. お裁縫をするとき、どちらの手で縫い針を持ちますか?When sewing, which hand do you hold the sewing needle?
- 7. 食卓でパンにバターを塗るとき、どちらの手でナイフを持ちますか?When you put butter on bread, which hand do you hold the knife?
- 8. 釘を打つとき、どちらの手で金づち(ハンマー)を持ちますか?When you hit a nail, which hand do you hold the hammer?
- 9. ジャガイモやりんごの皮をむくとき、どちらの手でピーラー (皮むき器) を持ちますか?

When peeling potatoes or apples, which hand do you hold the peeler?

10. 絵を描くとき、どちらの手で絵筆やペンを持ちますか?

When drawing, which hand do you hold the paintbrush or pen?

From these questions, handedness point was calculated as -1 for using left hand, +1 for using right hand and 0 for using both hands. If the total point is -10 to -5, that subject is left-handed person. If the total point is -4 to +4, that subject is both-handed person, and if the total point is +5 to +10, that subject is right-handed person. In this dataset, there are 10 left-handed subjects, 8 right-handed subjects and 5 both-handed subjects. Moreover, the dominant foot data of all participants were also collected using Chapman et al.' Foot Dominant test questions. These questions are available in Japanese language at https://blog.goo.ne.jp/lefty-yasuo/e/ 37149f8d3105e9b43aa58c5925024915. In this data collection, Japanese language questions were used together with their English translations so all Japanese subjects can understand all questions completely and easily. The foot dominant test questions are as follows.

1. サッカーボールを蹴る

Which foot do you use to kick a soccer ball?

2. 缶を踏みつける

Which foot do you use for trampling the can?

3. ゴルフボールを迷路に沿って転がす

Which leg do you use to roll a golf ball along the maze?

4. 砂に足で文字を書く

Which foot do you use to write letters on the sand?

5. 砂地をならす

Which foot do you use to smooth the sand?

6. 小石を足で並べる

Which foot do you use to arrange the pebbles?

7. 足先に棒を立てる

Which foot do you use to put a stick on your toes?

8. ゴルフボールを円に沿って転がす

Which foot do you use to roll the golf ball along the circle?

9. 片足跳びをできるだけ速くする

Which foot do you use to make one-legged jumps as fast as possible?

#### 10. できるだけ高く足を蹴上げる

Which foot do you use to kick up as high as you can?

11. 足先でこつこつリズムをとる

Which foot do you use to take a rhythm?

The dominant foot score can be calculated by checking the foot that the subjects used in each question. Left foot has 3 points, right foot has 1 point and both feet has 2 points. If the total score of foot dominant is 28 points or more, the subject is left-footed person, and if the total score is less than 28 points, that subject is right-footed person. In this dataset, there are 8 left-footed subjects and 15 right-footed subjects.

Brain dominance can be another cause of asymmetric body movements in different emotions. Arm and hand folding brain test method was selected from variety of dominant brain side test methods publicly available on the Internet. The subjects chose the pictures which are matched with their arm and hand folding methods available at https://www.lettuceclub.net/news/article/194896/. Questions were shown in Japanese language as follows.

1. 自然に腕を組んでください。どのようになりましたか?

Please fold your arm naturally. Which picture matches with you?

2. 自然に手を組んでください。どのようになりましたか?

Please fold your hand naturally. Which picture matches with you?

Each question also has arm and hand folding examples so the subjects can understand easily. These examples are shown in Figure 7.1. Hand folding test is for testing the input brain, and arm folding test is for testing the output brain. When folding the hand, if the thumb of the right hand is below the thumb of the left hand, that subject has right-brained input. If the thumb of the left hand is below, that subject has left-brained input. When folding the arm, if the right arm is under the left arm, that subject has right-brained output, and if the left arm is below, that subject has left-brained output. This dataset contains 3 left-input/left-output, 7 left-input/right-output, 7 right-input/left-output and 6 right-input/right-output dominant brain side subjects.

As walking while watching videos on HoloLens 2 at the same time can distract some subjects from walking naturally, this dataset also has a question asking all participants that whether they can walk naturally while watching videos on HoloLens 2. The results of this questions are 7 subjects answered they can walk naturally, 8 subjects answered they cannot walk naturally and 8 subjects answered they are not sure. The results of this questions in Japanese with their English translation are as follows.

7 subjects who answered they can walk naturally explained as follows.

• 映像に集中していたから。

Because I was concentrating on the video

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.lettuceclub.net/news/article/194896/



Figure 7.1: Arm and Hand Folding Examples(Image Source: Lettuce Club<sup>1</sup>)

• 映像を見ることに集中していたため

Because I was concentrating on watching the video

• 映像に集中していたから

Because I was concentrating on the video

• 動画に集中していたから

Because I was concentrating on the video

歩きにくさを感じなかったから
Because I did not find it difficult to walk
飽きなかったから!

I did not get tired of it!

視界が完全に隠されてたわけではなかったため。あしもとは見えてたので比較的歩きやすかった。

Because the view was not completely hidden. I could see the foot, so it was relatively easy to walk.

8 subjects who answered they cannot walk naturally explained as follows.

- 音や映像に気を取られたから
   Because I was distracted by the sound and images
- 途中でフラついたり、まっすぐ歩けなかったりしたからです。
   Because I was fluttering on the way and I could not walk straight
- Because I need to concentrate while watching the movie, as well as paying attention to not to walk crossing the black border.
- 映像に集中していたから

Because I was concentrating on the video

• 映像に集中していて、たまに枠線を超えそうになったから。

Because I was concentrating on the video and sometimes I almost crossed the border

• 歩く範囲が小さいため

Because the walking range is small

歩くことと見ることの二つのことに集中していたので自然に歩いていなかったと思う。

I think I did not walk naturally because I was concentrating on two things, walking and seeing.

途中で酔ってしまい、回数を重ねるにつれて歩くことが辛くなってきたため。

I got drunk on the way, and it became difficult to walk as the number of times increased.

8 subjects who answered they were not sure that they can walk naturally or not explained as follows.

時々眠たかったから

Sometimes, I wanted to sleep.

• 歩き方をあまり意識してなかったから

Because I was not really conscious of how to walk

- 映像を見ながら歩くのが少し難しかった
   It was a little difficult to walk while watching the video.
- 映像に集中していた

I was concentrating on the video.

・枠外には出なかったが、円状を単調に歩いていたので、目がくらんで、
 不自然に歩いていたかもしれないから。

I did not go out of the frame, but I was walking monotonously in a circle, so I might have been dazzled and walked unnaturally.

- 何も考えていなかったため、自然だったかはわからないです
   I did not think about anything, so I do not know if it was natural.
- 自分がどう歩いていたか気にしていなかった
   I did not care how I was walking.
- ・疲れていた・靴が気になった・円に沿って歩くことに集中していた
   I was tired. / I was worried about my shoes. / I was concentrating on walking along the circle.

In total, this dataset contains walking trials from 23 subjects walking while watching three emotion-inducing videos. Therefore, 69 walking trials were collected. After finishing each walk, each subject was asked to answer the self-reported emotional questionnaire for checking how did they feel using the same questions as used in the first dataset collection. In this dataset, there are 22 happy walking trials, 29 sad walking trials and 18 neither walking trials. Comparison between *Expected Emotion* and *Reported Emotion* is shown in Table 7.1.

 

 Table 7.1: Comparison of Expected Emotion from Stimuli and Reported Emotion from Self-Reported Questionnaire for the Second Dataset

Stimuli \Reported Emotion	Happy	Sad	Neither
Positive Movie	10	7	6
Negative Movie	0	19	4
Neutral Movie	12	3	8

# Chapter 8

# Data Proprocessing and Feature Extraction of Second Dataset

Walking trials in the second dataset were preprocessed using the same procedure with the first dataset explained in Chapter 4. Features extraction was also done using the same method as described in Chapter 5.

In this dataset, walking directions of all trials from each subject were also checked in the same way as the first dataset. Figure 8.1 shows six examples of walking paths from six subjects. This dataset contains similar walking trajectories like the first dataset including oval shape, rounded-rectangle shape, and random walking paths.



Figure 8.1: Sample of Walking Path for Each Subject in the Second Dataset

## Chapter 9

# Statistical Analysis of Gait Features for the Combination of Both Datasets

Because the second dataset contains only 23 subjects, it is too small to be used alone for further analyses. As the second dataset was collected using the same method as used in the first dataset collection, both datasets can be combined together to be used in the remaining analyses. The combination of two datasets contain 72 subjects in total. In the combined dataset, the average age of all subjects is 19.76 years. The standard deviation of subjects' age is 2.05 years. The average height is 167.35 centimeters with 7.64 centimeters standard deviation. The average weight is 58.38 kilograms, and the standard deviation of the weight is 10.94 kilograms. There are 51 male subjects and 21 female subjects after combining the two datasets.

## 9.1 One-way Analysis of Variance

### 9.1.1 Methodology

One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed with both *Expected Emotion* and *Reported Emotion* to find the effects of emotional differences to body parts movements in each straightness group separately using the same procedure which were applied with the first dataset as described in Section 6.1.

#### 9.1.2 Results

One-way ANOVA was performed to check the effects of emotional differences for *Expected Emotion* and *Reported Emotion* in each straightness group. Results of one-way ANOVA of the combined dataset are shown in Table 3 and Table 4 for *Expected Emotion* and *Reported Emotion* respectively.

From the results of *Expected Emotion* analysis in Table 3, there is one significantly different angle among different expected emotions from video stimuli. That angle is *BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh* and the statistical value that is significantly different is the standard deviation in  $25^{\circ}$  to  $35^{\circ}$  straightness group. Hence, the result suggests that arm swing magnitudes are different when the subjects walked and watched different emotional videos in highly curved walking. Unfortunately, emotion induction results which are shown in Table 7.1 and Table 3.2 for both datasets reveal that some subjects did not feel the emotion they were expected to feel; therefore, it will not be accurate to rely on the expected emotions annotated from the videos. Using *Reported Emotion* they answered from the self-reported questionnaire after finishing each walk should be better and more accurate to compare the subjects movements corresponding to their emotions. The remaining analyses are focused on *Reported Emotion* instead.

In *Reported Emotion* analysis, the results of one-way ANOVA are shown in Table 4. From this table, there are several mean and SD values of angles which are significantly different among different *Reported Emotion*. However, many mean or SD values of angles are different between happy emotion and neither emotion, as well as neither emotion with sad emotion. Neither emotion should not be mainly considered due to its randomness because neither means any other emotions which are not happy and sad that subjects felt after walking. Consequently, only differences between happy and sad emotions are considered and discussed.

In the combined dataset results (Table 9.1), there are only two straightness groups i.e., -25° to -15° and 25° to 35° which have significantly different arm swing magnitudes between happy and sad emotions. However, in the first dataset containing 49 subjects, left arm swing magnitude is significantly different in all straightness groups as shown in Table 6.2. Table 9.1: Tukey Test Results of Significantly Different Mean and SD of Each Angle in Each Straightness Group for the Combined Dataset (Factor: Reported Emotion)

Group tor th	le Combined D	ataset	(Factor: Reported Emotion)		, , , ,
Straightness Group	Walking Direction	Type	Significant Angle Between 3 Markers	Significant Pair	P-Value from Tukey HSD of Significant Pair
-35° to -25°	Clockwise	SD	${ m BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh}$	Happy vs Neither Happy vs Sad	0.0053 0.0055
		Mean	RightKneeOut-WaistRightBack-BackRight	Happy vs Neither	0.0289
-95° +0 -15°	Clockwise		WaistRightBack-BackRight-RightShoulderBack	Happy vs Neither	0.0279
		SD	BackRight-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	Happy vs Sad	0.0106
		SD	BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	Happy vs Sad	0.0095
1 Kº 40 Kº	Clockwisco	Mean	BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	Happy vs Sad	0.0323
6- 01 6T-	DELWADOLO	SD	BackLeft-BackTop-HeadTop	Happy vs Sad	0.0392
		Mean	LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	Happy vs Neither	0.0321
до +0 до	Straight	Mean	RightKneeOut-WaistRightBack-BackRight	Happy vs Neither	0.0134
	ALL	Mean	WaistRightBack-BackRight-RightShoulderBack	Happy vs Neither	0.0384
		SD	RightThigh-WaistRightFront-Chest	Happy vs Neither	0.0420
		Mean	RightKneeOut-WaistRightBack-BackRight	Happy vs Neither	0.0185
$5^{\circ}$ to $15^{\circ}$	Counter-clockwise	Mean	LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	Happy vs Neither	0.0356
		Mean	WaistRightBack-BackRight-RightShoulderBack	Happy vs Neither	0.0230
1 Kº 40 9 Kº	Countar alcolantico	Mean	LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	Happy vs Neither	0.0223
07 00 PT	Der M WOOD- ISAITINOO	SD	${ m LeftAnkleOut-LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftFront}$	Neither vs Sad	0.0318
95° +0 35°	Counter-elockwise	CDS	BackI aft.I aftShindarBack.I aftIImarAmHind	Happy vs Sad	0.0084
70 00 07	AGT M WAATA - TOATTAA	2	יואדוווו ורי זאלל איזאר-אאמר ואחווטווטיוטיוטר-אוטראטר	Neither vs Sad	0.0059

To investigate this issue, left and right arm swing magnitudes when subjects feel happy and when subjects feel sad were compared for the combined dataset in each straightness group separately as shown in Table 9.2. In this table, although the P-Values of ANOVA are not significantly different in all straightness groups unlike the first dataset, all arm swing magnitudes in happy emotion for both left arm and right arm are higher than arm swing magnitudes in sad emotion. Therefore, the results reveal that arm swing magnitudes in the combined dataset are also different in the similar way as the first dataset, and they are good indicators for checking subjects' emotions while walking.

Table 9.2: Comparison of Arm Swing Magnitude (SD) in All Emotions for Left and Right Side

Straightness Group	Actual Side	Inside-Outside	Happy	Neither	Sad	P-Value
-35° to -25°	Left	Outside	4.7397	4.1201	4.1201	0.0946
	Right	Inside	3.1135	2.9016	2.5081	0.1402
$25^{\circ}$ to $15^{\circ}$	Left	Outside	4.5419	4.0405	3.8495	0.6368
-20 10 -10	Right	Inside	3.2592	2.9839	2.3355	0.0108
-15° to -5°	Left	Outside	3.8775	3.9309	3.6233	0.8838
	Right	Inside	3.2077	3.2726	2.7860	0.1391
-5° to 5°	Left	-	3.5731	4.0528	3.3611	0.4307
	Right	-	4.0320	4.1392	3.9359	0.9518
5° to 15°	Left	Inside	3.6771	3.7567	2.9633	0.0949
0 10 10	Right	Outside	4.2459	4.3586	3.6563	0.1557
$15^{\circ}$ to $25^{\circ}$	Left	Inside	3.7112	3.6912	3.1002	0.1161
	Right	Outside	4.4104	4.6158	3.9949	0.4638
25° to 35°	Left	Inside	3.8690	3.8837	2.8686	0.0023
	Right	Outside	4.3145	3.9962	3.6108	0.1645

Besides, in the first dataset, relationship between arm swing magnitudes with their inside-outside statuses and their walking curvature levels were analyzed by plotting those values in each curvature level including small, moderate, and large curved walking. In the combined dataset, similar plots were performed. Figure 9.1 and Figure 9.2 show the arm swing magnitudes (SD of *BackRight*- *RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh* and SD of *BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh*) when each arm is inside and outside of the circular walking path in different curvature levels for all emotions.

In Figure 9.1, the left arm swing magnitude increases when the walking curvature increases for happy emotion. Also, when the left arm is outside, the movement of this arm is higher compared to when this arm is inside. For sad emotion, the left arm swing magnitude also increases when the arm is outside and the curvature of walking increases. However, when the left arm is inside, curvature level does not affect much with arm swing magnitude. That is, when the curvature level changes, if the left arm is inside, left arm swing magnitude slightly changes. But if the left arm is outside, left arm swing magnitude increases a lot when the curvature is larger. For the differences between happy and sad arm swing magnitudes, the combined dataset has smaller differences in comparison to the first dataset. In some conditions such as large curvature level walk, the difference is high so it is easy to distinguish between happy and sad. But in some other conditions such as when the subjects walk straight, the difference is smaller so it will be more difficult to determine that subjects are feeling sad or happy.

Figure 9.2 shows the right arm swing magnitude according to its insideoutside status and the curvature level. In this plot, difference between right arm swing magnitudes of happy and sad emotion is smaller than the left arm. About the walking curvature and inside-outside status, arm swings in both happy and sad increase when the right arm is outside of the circular walking path compared to when the right arm is inside. Also, when the curvature level is larger in outside conditions, the arm swing magnitudes increase, but when the curvature level changes in inside conditions, arm swing magnitudes do not change much. Therefore, the plots for the right arm is quite similar to the left arm, and the differences between happy and sad emotions can be distinguished easier on the left arm.

In summary, differences between the arm swing magnitudes in different emotions of the left arm are larger than the right arm. The arm swing also increases when the curvature level increases and that arm is outside arm. These results agree with the result from previous dataset as shown in Figure 6.2 and Figure 6.3. We can imply that the left arm swing magnitudes reveal subjects' emotion better than the right arm swing magnitudes, especially when the left arm is outside and the walking curvature is large.



Figure 9.1: Plot of Left Arm Swing in All Emotions for the Combined Dataset

This combined dataset also shows some more angles that are useful to be



Figure 9.2: Plot of Right Arm Swing in All Emotions for the Combined Dataset considered in addition to the left and right arm swing magnitudes (SD value of *BackRight-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh* and SD value of *BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh*). As mentioned earlier, many differences in Table 9.1 are involving neither emotion, this study focuses only on happy and sad emotions which are opposite to each other. Happy and sad emotions also be the exact emotion unlike neither which means any other emotions except happy and sad. The angle names and the straightness groups which are significantly different between happy and sad emotion are as follows.

- -35° to -25°: SD of BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh
- + -25° to -15°: SD of BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh
- -15° to -5°: Mean of BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh and SD of BackLeft-BackTop-HeadTop



Figure 9.3: Illustration of Two Additional Angles which are Significantly Different between Happy and Sad

These angles are illustrated on the human model image in Figure 9.3. In this figure, the *BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh* also represent the arm swing of subjects. The SD value shows the magnitude of arm swing in an entire walk of that straightness group, while the mean value represents the posture of the arm. In this case, right arm posture is different in happy and sad emotion. Another angle is *BackLeft-BackTop-HeadTop*. It can be interpreted as the head tilting angle, therefore, SD value of this angle is the magnitude of head tilting angle i.e., subjects tilt their head more in one emotion compared to another emotion.

# 9.2 Multi-Factor Analysis of Variance

## 9.2.1 Methodology

Multi-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed with the same method as used in the first dataset. In the combined dataset, multi-factor ANOVA was also performed on the same angles as done in the first dataset including SD value of *BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh*, and SD value of *BackRight-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh* which are the left and right arm swing magnitudes. All other settings are similar to the experiment on the first dataset. Furthermore, because the combined dataset has more female subjects (51 male and 21 female) than the first dataset (41 male and 8 female), gender factor are also analyzed. The factors used in multi-factor ANOVA are as follows.

- Reported Emotion
- Curvature
- Angle Side
- Gender
- Reported Emotion  $\times$  Curvature
- Reported Emotion  $\times$  Angle Side
- Curvature × Angle Side
- Reported Emotion  $\times$  Gender

- Curvature  $\times$  Gender
- Angle Side  $\times$  Gender

Additionally, in the second dataset that contains 23 subjects, more information about subjects was collected including dominant hand, dominant foot, and dominant brain side. This information is available for the second dataset only, hence, the following factors were analyzed using multi-factor ANOVA on the second dataset, not the combined dataset.

- Gender
- Dominant Hand
- Dominant Foot
- Dominant Brain Side
- Gender  $\times$  Dominant Hand
- Gender  $\times$  Dominant Brain Side
- Dominant Hand  $\times$  Dominant Brain Side

### 9.2.2 Results

Results of multi-factor ANOVA are shown in Table 9.3 and Table 9.4 for the combined dataset and the second dataset respectively. In the combined dataset results, the factors which have significant effects on the arm swing magnitudes are *Reported Emotion, Curvature* and *Gender*. Moreover, these factors have

interaction effects with each other including Curvature  $\times$  Angle Side, Reported Emotion  $\times$  Gender, Curvature  $\times$  Gender, and Angle Side  $\times$  Gender as shown in Table 9.3. For the second dataset analysis results using multi-factor ANOVA shown in Table 9.4, the factors which have significant effects with arm swing magnitudes are *Gender* and *Dominant Brain Side*. Also, there is an interaction effect between Gender and Dominant Hand Side factor.

<u>Table 9.3: Results of Multi-</u>	<u>Factor ANOVA for C</u>	<u>combined</u>	<u>Dataset</u>
Factor	Degree of Freedom	<b>F-Value</b>	P-Value
Reported Emotion	2	11.8729	0.0000
Curvature	6	8.2373	0.0000
Angle Side	1	0.6141	0.4334
Gender	1	9.4269	0.0022
Reported Emotion $\times$ Curvature	12	0.3272	0.9846
Reported Emotion $\times$ Angle Side	2	0.1529	0.8582
Curvature $\times$ Angle Side	6	2.1078	0.0495
Reported Emotion $\times$ Gender	2	5.5106	0.0041
Curvature $\times$ Gender	6	2.4185	0.0248
Angle Side $\times$ Gender	1	4.2970	0.0383

Table 9.4: Results of Multi-Factor ANOVA for the Second Dataset

Factor	Degree of Freedom	<b>F-Value</b>	P-Value
Gender	1	24.5341	0.0000
Dominant Hand	2	0.6970	0.4984
Dominant Foot	1	0.0536	0.8169
Dominant Brain Side	3	8.8768	0.0000
Gender $\times$ Dominant Hand	2	5.8434	0.0030
Gender $\times$ Dominant Brain Side	1	3.4116	0.0652
Dominant Hand $\times$ Dominant Brain Side	3	2.2853	0.0776

From the results of the combined dataset in Table 9.3, Tukey test were conducted with these factors including *Reported Emotion* and *Gender* as these factors significantly affect arm swing magnitudes so it is important to find which pairs have significantly different arm swing magnitudes. The results of Tukey test for these two factors are shown in Table 9.5 and Table 9.6 respectively.

These tables show that arm swing magnitudes in *Happy vs Sad*, and *Neither vs Sad* are significantly different. Therefore, arm swing magnitudes can be used for distinguishing between different emotions. Besides, male and female subjects have significantly different arm swing magnitudes regardless of emotions.

 Table 9.5: Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey Test on Reported Emotion

 of the Combined Dataset

Sig	nificant Pair	P-Value from Tukey Test
Ha	appy vs Sad	0.0001
Ne	either vs Sad	0.0001

Table 9.6: Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey Test on Gender of the Combined Dataset

Significant Pair	P-Value from Tukey Test
Female vs Male	0.0049

For the second dataset multi-factor ANOVA test results in Table 9.4, Tukey test was performed on *Gender* factor. The result is shown in Table 9.7. Arm swing magnitudes are also significantly affected by subjects' gender. This result confirms that male and female subjects have different arm swings while walking.

Table 9.7: Significantly Different Pairs from Tukey test on Gender of the Second Dataset

Significant Pair	P-Value from Tukey Test
Female vs Male	0.0005

## Chapter 10

## Discussion

According to the results from all analyses, there are several issues should be considered as follows.

First of all, from one-way ANOVA results, human gait is obviously affected by the Reported Emotion from a self-reported questionnaire, more than by the Expected Emotion which is the annotated emotion from the videos used for emotion induction.

When comparing between Expected Emotion, all participants watched the same video for each Expected Emotion i.e., neutral, positive and negative video. The visual patterns, dialogues, sounds and musical rhythms are identical in each video. Therefore, the results suggest that the gait differences found in statistical analyses are not based on the raw video or audio stimuli, but on the reported emotions of subjects which were induced by these emotional videos.

According to one-way ANOVA results of Reported Emotion, several body part movements behaviors are affected by human emotion. For example, the mean values of angles related to the head and shoulders of subjects, and the standard deviation values of angles including movement magnitudes related to the chest, waist and arms of subjects. The left arm swing magnitude is significantly different in different reported emotions regardless of walking curvatures. However, difference in emotions among all curvatures only affected the left arm swing magnitude significantly but emotional difference does not significantly affect right arm swing magnitude. Since the participants in this study did not walk in a straight walking path but they walked circularly in different curvatures, it is possible that this phenomenon occurred due to the walking curvatures of the subjects.

From these results, arm swing magnitude in different walking curvatures were investigated. The plots of arm swing magnitudes shown in Figure 6.2 and Figure 6.3 show that the arm swing magnitude is smaller for the inside arm compared to the outside arm regardless of reported emotions or the arm sides. From the results of one-way ANOVA, this study focused on arm swing magnitude for Reported Emotion only in the remaining analyses. This study found that arm swings of humans can reveal their emotions better than other body parts. In addition, multi-factor ANOVA on arm swing magnitudes was used for investigation of walking curvatures and arm sides effects.

From the results of multi-factor ANOVA, many issues should be considered. For the main effects, this study shows that the Reported Emotion and Curvature have significant effects on arm swing magnitudes but the Angle Side (left or right arm) does not have a significant effect on arm swing magnitudes. Besides, two interaction effects related to the Angle Side were found including the Reported Emotion factor with Angle Side factor (F-Value=5.3906, P-Value=0.0047), and the Curvature factor with the Angle Side factor (F-Value=3.4769, P-Value=0.0020). In a related study by Kuhtz-Buschbeck et al. [22], they found that arm swing can be asymmetric for both left-handed and right-handed people. However, their study was conducted with straight walking path on the treadmill while this study was done using circular walking path. It is still possible that the arm swings of the left arm and right arm are asymmetric because of dominant hand of the participants while they walk in non-straight walking path. However, in the first dataset consisted of 49 subjects that was used for analyses, the dominant hand data were not collected. This issue can be tested using the second dataset. In addition, the Reported Emotion and walking curvature do not have interaction effects with each other in the first dataset.

From linear regression analysis, since the regression slopes of the left arm are much different for each emotion, but the regression slopes of the right arm are quite similar for all emotions, the arm swings in each emotion are affected differently for left and right arm. In other words, the differences of emotions have effects with the left and right arm swings in different ways. The results suggest the arm side must be considered in addition to the arm swing magnitude so that distinguishing between emotions is easier and more accurate.

In the first dataset, the numbers of male and female subjects are very different (41 males, 8 females). Also, the dominant hand information of each subject was not collected. Therefore, I decided to collect another dataset using the same setting and method. Besides, more information about subjects was collected including dominant hand, dominant foot, dominant brain side, and a question asking whether the subjects can walk naturally while watching videos on HoloLens 2. In the second dataset, there are 23 subjects including 13 female and 10 male participants. Since this dataset was collected using the similar method and setting which were used in the first dataset collection, this dataset was combined with the first dataset to make the entire dataset larger for analyses. In total, the combined dataset consists of 72 subjects including 51 male and 21 male subjects. Even though the numbers of male and female subjects are not equal, the ratio between male and female is much better than the first dataset. Also, analyzing the combined dataset which consists of more number of subjects should be better than analyzing two datasets separately.

The second dataset was collected to solve the following issues. First, the numbers of male subjects and female subjects in the first dataset are too much different. And the subjects in the first dataset were not asked for other information such as dominant hand, dominant foot etc. In this dataset, this information was collected for checking that the dominant side of body parts including hand, foot, and brain have effects with arm swing magnitude or not. As the previous dataset has asymmetric arm swing magnitudes, that is, magnitude of the left arm swing can reveal the emotions of subjects better than the right arm, and magnitude of left arm is always larger than right arm, collecting the second dataset that contains the information about dominant hand, foot, and brain side can be useful for further analyses.

Statistical analyses of the second dataset were perform by combining this dataset with the first dataset to make the dataset larger and more diverse between genders. One-way ANOVA and multi-factor ANOVA were performed using the similar method with the first dataset. One-way ANOVA results show that there are several body parts which are affected by the difference of emotions. However, using Expected Emotion does not have the good results since the emotions which subjects perceived are different from the emotions they were expected to feel. Therefore, the remaining analyses were performed using Reported Emotion only, and the emotions to consider are merely happy and sad because neither emotion is the emotion group that means the subjects did not feel happy and also did not feel sad so it should not be used for consideration.

The results from one-way ANOVA analysis which are significantly different between happy and sad emotions include the arm swing magnitudes of the left and right arm, and head tilting magnitudes of subjects. However, the body parts which have significantly different movements are not the same in all walking straightness groups unlike the first dataset. This can happened because of the combined dataset contains more number of subjects so the gait data are also more diverse. I analyzed the arm swing magnitudes of left and right arm although these angles are not significantly different in all walking straightness groups unlike the first dataset to verify whether the arm swing magnitudes have similar behavior with the first dataset. The results suggest that arm swing magnitudes of both left arm and right arm are different among different emotions and behave in the same trending with the first dataset. That is, when the subjects are happy, the arm swing magnitude is larger than when the subjects are sad for both arm sides. Also, from the plots of left and right arm swing magnitudes in each walking curvature level and when each arm is inside or outside of the circular walking path, the left arm is better to be used for observing subjects' emotions since the difference between emotions is larger in the left arm side. Additionally, when the arm is inside and the subjects walk in a highly curved pattern, arm swing magnitudes are also higher in the same manner as shown in the first dataset. Hence, the results from one-way

ANOVA and plots of arm swing magnitudes reveal that the behavior of arm swing magnitudes in different emotions, different walking curvature levels, and different sides are still the same even the number of subjects increases.

In multi-factor ANOVA analyses for the second dataset, some factors were tested using the combined dataset (72 subjects) while some factors were tested using the second dataset only (23 subjects). The reason is because the first dataset which consists of 49 subjects does not have the information about the dominant hand, dominant foot and dominant brain side. Consequently, the second dataset with 23 subjects was used for investigation of gender, dominant hand, dominant foot, and dominant brain side. The combined dataset with 72 subjects was used for checking other factors including Reported Emotion, curvature, angle side, and gender. In the combined dataset analysis, the factors which significantly affect with arm swing magnitudes are Reported Emotion (P-Value = 0.000, F-Value = 11.8729), Curvature (P-Value = 0.000, F-Value = 0.000, F-Value = 0.000)(P-Value = 0.0022, F-Value = 9.4269). For the interaction between factors, Curvature has interaction with Angle Side (P-Value = 0.0495, F-Value = 2.1078, Reported Emotion has interaction with Gender (P-Value = 0.0041, F-Value = 5.5106), Curvature has interaction with Gender (P-Value = 0.0248, F-Value = 2.4185), and Angle Side has interaction with Gender (P-Value = 0.0383, F-Value = 4.2970). These results show that different emotions have significant effects with arm swing magnitudes, which agree with the first dataset analysis results. Curvature of walks are also significantly affect with arm swing magnitudes. As the ratio of male and female in the combined dataset is getting better, gender factor was also tested and the results show that male

and female subjects have significantly different arm swing magnitudes.

The dominant body parts factors were tested using merely the second dataset. In this test, Gender (P-Value = 0.0000, F-Value = 24.5341) and Dominance Brain Side (P-Value = 0.0000, F-Value = 8.8768) have significant effects with subjects' arm swing magnitudes, and Gender also have interaction with Dominant Hand Side (P-Value = 0.0030, F-Value = 5.8434). Since this dataset has a very good ratio of male and female subjects (10 male and 13 female subjects), the results reveal that differences of arm swings are also related with gender. In other words, male and female subjects have significantly different arm swing magnitudes regardless of emotions and other factors. Subjects with different dominant brain sides also have significantly different arm swing magnitudes. Unfortunately, because the number of subjects are not many, so the dominant brain side in each group are less than 10 subjects i.e., 3 left-input/left-output, 7 left-input/right-output, 7 right-input/left-output and 6 right-input/right-output. The result suggests that brain side dominance also have effects with arm swing magnitudes but it may not very accurate as the number of subjects in each dominant brain side is less than ten subjects. But for the gender, as there are 13 female subjects and 10 male subjects, it can be concluded that subjects in different genders swing their arms differently.

Analyses results in this study reveal that the arm swing magnitudes are different in different emotions i.e., arm swing magnitude when subjects feel happy are larger than when subjects feel sad. My results agree with results from other related researches proposed by Halovic et al. [10], Michalak et al. [29] and Montepare et al. [30].

Halovic et al. [10] investigated the gait movements that can be used for distinguishing between emotions. Subjects walking in several emotions were shown to the observers using point-light display technique. They checked if the observers are aware of which gait cues are used to distinguish between emotions, and if the gait cues that the observers used for identification of emotions of walking subjects are actually shown in the walkers. All observers watched the same 409 videos recorded from 36 actors walking in several emotions including happiness, sadness, anger, fear and neutral at three intensity level i.e., low, moderate and high. There are approximately 80 to 100 videos for each emotion. Each observer were requested to watch the walkers expressing multiple emotions by point-light videos and rate the emotion classes as well as the intensity they perceived. A short question was used for asking about the observers' strategies to judge the emotions of the walkers. The most frequently used strategies for identifying each emotion are as follows. For happy emotion, gait is bouncy, walking speed is faster, and arm movement increases. However, for sad emotion, the walking speed is slower, arm movement decreases, and the head is down. In their study, they found that these cues are valid in all walking subjects, and the observers are explicitly aware of the cues they used for emotion identification. They also performed kinematic analysis to check if these cues actually happened and found that happy subjects walked faster with larger arm swing, but for sad subjects, the walking pace is slower and the arm swing is smaller due to the counterbalancing arm swing is not required much in slow walking unlike fast walking. Their findings are also agree with the studies by Michalak et al. [29] and Montepare et al. [30] which are the past studies about human gaits in

different emotions. The study proposed by Halovic et al. [10] can be compared with my study although there are some differences i.e., subjects of their study walked in a straight walking path from one side of the room to another side of the room but subjects of my study walked in a circular walking pattern that includes several trajectories, and the walking subjects in their study are actors who performed the acted emotional expressions while walking whereas my study use unconscious emotional expressions of subjects while they watch emotion-inducing video. Their study proved that the arm swing and walking pace can be used to distinguish between happy and sad subjects, their finding about arm swing is consistent with my study. Unfortunately, as my study has smaller walking area and non-straight walking pattern, it is difficult to measure the walking speed in each emotion so the speed differences cannot be verified.

In the study proposed by Michalak et al. [29], they performed experiments to check the gait patterns which are related with dysphoric mood including sadness and depression. They compared the gait patterns of 14 patients with depression with 14 never-depressed participants in the first experiment. In the second experiment, they used music to induce negative and positive emotions of 23 participants. Each participant walked on a 7 meters length straight walking path for 10 times. For the first experiment, they compared 5 features i.e., speed, arm swing, lateral body sway, posture of the upper body, and vertical head movement. They found that there are significant differences between depressed and never-depressed participants for all features. That is, depressed participants have lower walking speed, reduced arm swing, larger lateral body sway, more slumped posture, and reduced vertical head movement. For the second experiment, two music were used for inducing emotions of subjects to be negative and positive. Gait features used for comparison are the same as the first experiment. This experiment show that all 5 features are significant between negative and positive mood condition i.e., sad participants walk slower, have reduced arm swing, have larger lateral body sway, have more slumped posture, and have reduced vertical head movement. Both experiments reveal that these 5 features can be used for discrimination between positive mood or never-depressed participants and negative mood or depressed participants. In comparison to my study, their study found more numbers of significantly different gait features between negative and positive emotions. This could be occurred because of the walking pattern and walking area size. As my study has circular walking path and much smaller walking area compared to their study which has straight and long walking path, differences of body movements in positive and negative emotion can be observed easier and clearer in their study. In summary, there is one common gait feature that is significantly different between emotions in my study and their study, that is, the arm swing of subjects.

Montepare et al. [30] conducted another study that should be considered. Ten observers were asked to observing five subjects expressing four emotions including sadness, happiness, anger, and pride. Observers identified the emotion of walking subjects by their gait characteristics. Each walker was requested to walk while imagining about the assigned situations related with these four emotions. The walking paths are straight toward, away, and across with the camera. Observers watched the recorded videos and judge the emotion of the walkers using the following criteria; short stride or long stride, no arm swing or much arm swing, light-footed or heavy-footed, and slouch or stand straight. Their experiments found that gaits of angry emotion are more heavy-footed than other emotions, and gaits of sad emotion have less arm swing than other emotions. Gaits of proud and angry emotions have longer stride length than other emotions, and happy emotion gaits has faster pace than other emotions. Results of this study also support my findings. That is, in sad emotion, the arm swing is less than other emotions. As my study compare between happy and sad emotion, their results are consistent with my results. However, for the walking speed or pace, their study also found the differences of walking speed between emotions while my study cannot test for the speed differences since the walking area is smaller and the walking path is not straight.

From the aforementioned researches, despite the walking directions and emotion induction methods of my study and these related studies are different, there is a similar gait feature that can be used for distinguishing between happy and sad walks i.e., the arm swing of subjects in happy walks are larger than sad walks regardless of walking directions or emotion induction methods.

The results of this study also show that the left arm swing is not symmetry with the right arm swing regardless of emotions, as well as left arm swing is larger and more obviously expresses the emotions of subjects. These results agree with other studies about left and right arm swing symmetry proposed by Killeen et al. [19] and Kuhtz-Buschbeck et al. [22]. That is, left arm swing is larger than right arm swing in healthy human, and it is not related with dominant hand of subjects.

Kuhtz-Buschbeck et al. [22] investigated the arm swing symmetry of 16 participants including 8 left-handed and 8 right-handed subjects when the subjects are walking on a treadmill. The objective of this study is to check whether the arm swing movement while walking is related with subject's dominant hand. There are 6 experimental conditions for each subject i.e., 4 forward walking trials, 1 backward walking trial, and 1 forward running trial. From the previous studies, there is a suggestion that the dominant hand side has less arm swing than the non-dominant hand side, however, their study found that this suggestion is not true. They also found that increased velocity results in increased amplitude of arm swing but when the subjects switch from walking to running, the amplitude of arm swing become smaller. And when the subjects walk backward, the arm swing decreased compare to forward walking at the same speed. For symmetry issue, they found that the arm swing is often asymmetry within subjects. There are 47 from 96 trials that have significantly different arm swing between each arm side. Ten subjects from 16 subjects have consistent asymmetry in different modes (forward/backward) and velocities of walking. Additionally, the dominant hand side has larger arm swing in 22 trial and the non-dominant hand side has larger arm swing in 25 trials which are very similar numbers. This means that the dominant hand side or handedness is not related with arm swing asymmetry. Particularly, they found that the left arm has larger arm swing than the right arm regardless of the dominant hand side. From their study, the results agree with the findings in my study that the arm swing on the left side is larger than arm swing on the right side, and is it common that the left and right arm swing asymmetric occurred in healthy

subjects' gaits. In my study, the subjects walk in circular pattern which is a non-straight walking path while this study let their subjects walk on the treadmill which have unlimited walking length, the asymmetry of arm swing commonly occurred in both studies. These results suggest that asymmetry of left and right arm swings occurred regardless of walking pattern (straight/nonstraight) and walking area size. Their study also shows that the dominant hand is not related with the arm swing which agree with my analysis results.

In a more recent study by Killeen et al. [19], asymmetric arm swing on overground walking was inspected. There are 334 subjects participated in their study. They performed experiments with 3 conditions of walking including normal walking, fast walking, and dual-task walking. In dual-task walking, serial subtraction task which is a cognitive task was performed by each subject during walking. Each subject was requested to walk back and forth in a hallway that has 20 meters length for one minute in each trial. For the normal walking task, subjects were asked to walk at their comfortable speed. For the fast walking task, subjects were asked to walk as fast as possible but not running and not making themselves injured. In dual-task walking, subjects were asked to walk at the same fast speed and perform a serial subtraction task by subtracting the number from 408 by 7 for the entire walking trial. Both walking task and cognitive task were performed equally without any task prioritized over another task. In their dataset, there are 255 strong right-handed subjects, 49 mixed right-handed subjects, 4 mixed-handed subjects, 23 mixed left-handed subjects, and 3 strong left-handed subjects. Their study found that 257 subjects which is the majority of subjects have larger arm swing on the left arm side.

Furthermore, 250 subjects have the same asymmetry arm side among all walking conditions. For the entire dataset, the average of left arm swing is larger than right arm swing. In dual-task walking condition, subjects who have larger arm swing on the left side responded to cognitive task more than subjects who have larger arm swing on the right side. In other words, if the subjects have larger left arm swing, the difference between left arm swing and right arm swing reduced when they performed dual-task walking. But if the subjects have larger right arm swing, the differences between left and right arm swings remained the same in all conditions. They also found that the dominant hand or handedness is not related with the arm swing asymmetry. Additionally, the walking speed significantly reduced when the subjects performed cognitive task during walking. This means that the cognitive task also affected with walking speed. In summary, their study reveals that the arm swing is asymmetric, and left arm swing is larger than right arm swing in overground walking regardless of walking conditions. This finding supports the results of my study that the arm swing is not symmetry and the left arm swing is larger than the right arm swing. This phenomenon is normal in healthy subjects. Moreover, their findings show that the dominant hand is not related with the asymmetry of arm swing which also agree with my results. Lastly, when subjects performed cognitive task, the difference between left and right arm swing can be reduced for the subjects who have larger left arm swing. In comparison to my study, walking while watching an emotion-inducing video can be considered as a cognitive task since the subjects have to pay attention to the contents of the video. This reason can explain why the difference of left and right arm swing in my study

is not so large. For the walking pattern and walking space, this study shows that the long straight walking direction reveals large difference between left and right arm swing while my study used the circular walking pattern with smaller walking area size, hence, the asymmetry of left and right arm swing is not very large as found in their study.

From the studies proposed by Killeen et al. [19] and Kuhtz-Buschbeck et al. [22], it is normal that the arm swing for left arm and right arm are not symmetry in all walking conditions even though the walking direction and walking area size are different. These studies confirmed that the dominant hand of subjects are not related with subjects' arm swings. However, walking while performing cognitive task can make the asymmetry between both arms smaller but the asymmetry still exist in all situations.

Besides, emotions can be revealed unconsciously when the subjects are walking circularly. Walking in non-straight walking direction i.e., curved walk or turning can make the walking style of subjects to be unbalanced according to how the center of gravity is placed while walking<sup>1</sup>. Therefore, subjects tried to maintain the balance of walking so they unconsciously exert force in their walking postures, but the degree of force is unconsciously changed by emotions. It is possible that these unconscious force levels are affected by emotions of subjects easily. Therefore, when the body is in balance, the intensity of the emotion may differ unconsciously depending on the emotion of happiness or sadness.

Turcato et al. [43] examined human gait when walking in a circle. Their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.yamakei-online.com/yama-ya/detail.php?id=910

study is very useful to my study as they tested using the subjects who walked in clockwise and counter-clockwise direction which are similar to mine. They investigated the differences of gaits between linear and curved walking, and the distribution of force between both feet during curved walking. Their dataset consists of 26 participants walking in 3 conditions i.e., straight walking, circular clockwise walking, and circular counter-clockwise walking. Gaits were recorded using Pedar-X insole which is the device for measuring the pressure distribution on each foot, together with the accelerometer attached to the trunk of subjects. The walking path was marked as a circle with 1.2 meter radius on the floor. For straight walking task, the pathway has 20 meters length. For curved walking tasks, subjects were asked to walk for 3 times in each direction (clockwise/counter-clockwise) to collect 20 meters length of walking trials. Their study found that the walking speed and cadence were significantly affected by the walking trajectory between straight and curved walking. Speed and cadence are larger in straight walking compared to curved walking but the direction (clockwise and counter-clockwise) does not affect with these features in curved walking tasks. They discovered that the stance duration are similar for left and right foot in straight walking task. However, in curved walking tasks, the stance duration of the outside foot is shorter than the inside foot. For the trunk inclination issue, straight walking has very small inclination, while curved walking has larger inclination, that is, subject's trunk incline toward the center of the walking path. Their study can be used for explanation of some issues in my study. First, in my study, each subject can walk freely in the recording area without the path guidance on the floor while their study

requested the subjects to walk on the marked line on the floor. Second, my study allows the subjects to switch the walking direction at anytime while their study let the subjects walk in clockwise and counter-clockwise direction separately. From their findings, the results suggest that subject's gait is affected by the walking trajectory between straight and curved walking. However, in my study, the subjects are allowed to walk circularly without the path guidance so some subjects have many curved walking data (oval-shaped walking subjects) whereas some subjects have few curved walking data and many straight walking data (rounded-rectangle walking subjects). For circular walking trajectory, this study is quite similar to my study as the size of the circle is fixed at 1.2 meters radius. In my study, the size of the circle or the oval is determined by each subject but the maximum circle size is limited by the entire walking area size (2.90) by 3.64 meters). Therefore, the walking area of the curved walking condition is not much different between my work and their work. This means that the gait characteristics they found in curved walking should be found in my study too. Unfortunately, the straight walking path in their work has 20 meters length, so it is much longer than my work which is limited by the walking area size as mentioned earlier. To summarize, gait characteristics in curved walking and straight walking is different, especially the body inclination, the walking speed, and the foot movement (stance duration) for each foot side. Hence, in my opinion, the subjects have to put more effort to maintain the walking balance in curved walking than in straight walking condition. And the reason why the curved walking in my study reveals more obvious emotional difference is that the subjects unconsciously exert the force to maintain their balance in curved

walking. This force can be unconsciously affected by emotional differences.

Blakemore et al. [5] performed experiments to study the motor force output in several tasks. Participants were induced using emotional images selected from International Affective Picture System (IAPS) and subliminal stimuli (actionrelated words). A total of 270 images including 90 pleasant, 90 unpleasant and 90 neutral images were shown to the subjects. Subliminal stimuli consisted of words related to 3 types of adjective including action, inaction, and neutral adjectives. Force-measuring device between subject's thumb and index finger was used for measuring the force that subjects exert in each condition. Subjects were requested to press on the force measurement device as hard as possible while keep looking at the center of the screen. The unpleasant, pleasant, or neutral emotional images were shown to the subjects, then, the word related with action, inaction, or neutral meaning was shown. Finally, the subjects were asked to press the force measuring device. Therefore, each subject performed 9 conditions of experiment. They analyzed the force subjects used in each condition. There are 24 subjects participated in their study. In 9 conditions, they found significant interaction of emotional image and action-related words on motor force. When the subjects see the neutral image, maximum force was significantly lower when subjects also see the inaction word, compared to action and neutral words. This result shows that the inaction words make the motor output of subjects lower. However, when using neutral word and action word with neutral images, the forces are not significantly different between each word. Next, when the subjects see the emotional arousing images, different results were found according to the images and the action-related words. For
inaction words, maximum force were found when using the unpleasant images while pleasant and neutral images make the force significantly lower. For action words, maximum forces were reduced in pleasant images conditions in comparison to neutral images and unpleasant images. In summary, these results reveal that the force output reduced in positive emotion, regardless of action or inaction words when comparing to neutral words. In addition, negative emotion makes the force output similar in all action-related words conditions. From their study, it could be summarize that the force subjects exert when feeling different emotions are also different. This means that emotion induction makes the subjects change the level of motor force and they did not aware that the force they used are lower or higher. From these results, their study is very meaningful for my study. As my study has an assumption that humans change their body movement or force they exert in each body part when they feel different emotions, the study proposed by Blakemore et al. [5] supports my assumption that the subjects unconsciously change their body movements when their emotion change.

Humans use nonverbal communication to transmit messages to other people. These messages can be expressed using many platform such as eye contacts, facial expressions, gestures, postures, or body languages. Several expressions can be shown both intentionally and unintentionally. The unintentional nonverbal expressions can be considered as human behaviors which are changed unconsciously and unintentionally in different situations. Sayler [37] mentioned about this point in their book interestingly. Gestures can be expressed unintentionally when the subjects unconsciously react to some emotions they feel. In other

words, unintentional gestures are reactions from emotions or the desire for physical comfort of the body. This behavior can be called *fidgets*. Some well-known fidgets includes touching the face and neck, vibrating the leg while seated, and clicking on the pen. Many researches found that unintentional body expressions are related with human emotions. For instance, the study proposed by Hussain et al. [11] proposed a mental state prediction system by analyzing human gestures. They examined the unintended gestures that the subjects perform while taking an analytical test. An analytical question paper was given to each subject and the subject was requested to solve the question within a limited time. There are 20 subjects participated in this study. The unintended gestures were recorded when the subjects are solving analytical question. They found that there are unintended gestures occurred including the hand-touchhead and hand-touch-face movements. A system for prediction of subjects' mental states was developed. From their method, prediction of subjects' affective states yields 84% to 97% accuracy. Hence, they found that human body language or gesture is a nonverbal behavior that can reveal subjects' emotions which are expressed unintentionally, and these unconscious behaviors are very useful for developing an application for real-life situations.

A recent study by Liu et al. [28] studied about the nonverbal body gestures without using subjects' identity information. Their work focuses on the unintentional behaviors driven by inner feelings of subjects. Emotional states behind gestures were investigated and a recognition model was built. Their dataset contains the scenarios from videos of post-match press conferences available on the Internet. These videos show the professional athletes who were interviewed by reporters after they just finished a match. As the athletes have very litthe time to prepare, the responses to interviewing questions also express the unintentional and unconscious behaviors. Emotion states of the subjects were induced naturally by the results of the matches. In their study, they used two emotion categories i.e., positive state and negative state. There are 359 videos including 258 wins and 101 losses post-match press conference videos. Five major groups of gestures were examined in their study according to the location of body parts i.e., head, body, hand, body-hand, and head-hand. Each group contains more detailed body movements. Some examples of gestures in each group are moving torso, shaking shoulder for body group; turtle neck, head up for head group; scratching arms, crossing fingers, rubbing hands for hand group etc. Their study yields 60% best accuracy on recognition of emotions between emotions using their proposed dataset and technique. Although the recognition accuracy is not so high because of many limitations such as the very short timing of each gesture, their study is very useful as it reveals that human emotions are unconsciously expressed by human behaviors especially the body gestures. From these related studies, it is obvious that human behaviors especially gaits and gestures are related with subjects' feelings and they can be expressed unintentionally and unconsciously. These studies support our assumption that human behaviors including gaits and gestures can be expressed and changed unintentionally by subjects' inner feelings.

To sum up, by comparison between my study with other related studies, some points which need supporting reasons can be explained by other related works. In my study, the arm movements of subjects are smaller when subjects are walking in sad emotion comparing to happy emotion. Other related works proposed by Halovic et al. [10], Michalak et al. [29] and Montepare et al. [30] are consistent with my results, despite the walking patterns and directions, walking spaces, and emotion induction methods are different. Therefore, the arm movements or arm swings of subjects can be used to distinguish between happy and sad emotions. Secondly, my results show that the arm swings of left arm and right arms are not symmetry, and left arm swing shows subjects' emotional differences more obviously than the right arm swing. According to the studies about symmetric of arm swings proposed by Killeen et al. [19] and Kuhtz-Buschbeck et al. [22], their findings reveal that left and right arm swings of healthy subjects are normal to be asymmetric, and it is also normal that the left arm swing is larger than the right arm swing regardless of subjects' dominant hands or handedness. This phenomenon is normal although the walking directions, patterns, surfaces, and walking spaces are different. Besides, because my study uses a non-straight walking path for subjects to walk i.e., each subject walk circularly, it is also interesting to check whether the circular walking pattern is related with body balance and unconscious force that subjects exert while walking to maintain their balance. The study proposed by Turcato et al. [43] reveals that subjects have to use more effort to balance their bodies when walking circularly so subjects' gaits are affected by walking trajectories. Hence, these findings suggest that subjects have to put more effort by unconsciously exerting some forces to maintain their balance while walking in a non-straight walking path. Furthermore, it is still ambiguous that the forces that subjects' used for maintaining balance when walking can be unconsciously

changed due to emotional differences or not. A study by Blakemore et al. [5] supports this assumption. They found that the hand forces that subjects exert to force-measuring device are different when the emotional states of subjects change, definitely, subjects are not aware about these changes. Additionally, several behaviors which are nonverbal communication methods of humans can be expressed unintentionally or unconsciously when subjects react to some emotional stimuli or from their physical desires as mentioned by Sayler [37]. The works proposed by Hussain et al. [11] and Liu et al. [28] also reveal that human gestures are unconsciously changed or expressed depending on the affective states of subjects. Therefore, these related works clarify the ambiguous issues in my study. By walking in a non-straight path, subjects unconsciously put some forces to maintain their balance, and these forces can be changed according to subjects' emotions, as well as other forces such as hand pressing force which is changed without awareness of the subjects when subjects' emotions change. This means that human gaits while walking in a non-straight walking path, especially the left arm swing, can be used for identifying subjects' current emotions effectively.

In brief, the results of all statistical analyses can confirm these hypotheses. First, body part movements are different when the subjects are walking in different emotions. Therefore, human walking posture can reveal his or her emotions. Second, the body part movements, especially the arm swing, of the left and right sides while subjects are walking in a non-straight walking path are not symmetric. Hence, one side can reveal subject's emotion better than another side. These asymmetric movement of human body in each side is not related with dominant hand and dominant foot.

In emotion induction perspective, using HoloLens 2 to display emotioninducing videos during walking is more effective and consistent than using conventional displays to show the videos before walking. Unfortunately, from the subjects' comments in the questionnaire, several subjects feel that they cannot walk normally when they watched the video on HoloLens 2 while walking. Some subjects have motion sickness; some subjects feel tired; some subjects feel bored; some subjects feel sleepy; some subjects feel that concentrating on both walking and watching videos is difficult; and some subjects concern that they will go out from the walking area during walking. Oppositely, several subjects feel that it is easy to walk; some also feel that they can concentrate on the video and do not need to concern about walking posture; and some subjects say they can see the room environment while walking as the HoloLens 2 is transparent. Hence, the main limitations of this study are because of the walking environment and video induction method that is a novel method which has never been used before. These can be solved in the future by the following ideas. First, the walking space should be larger to make the subjects walk more natural. Second, the videos for emotion induction should not be too long and should be easy to understand to avoid the subjects to feel tired, bored or sleepy. Third, the subjects should have more time to practice using HoloLens 2 before perform the gait data collection to make them feel familiar with watching contents on smart glasses while walking. Finally, to avoid motion sickness, using some animated agents to interact with the subjects to induce their emotions can be a better idea than using the entire movie. In summary, using real-time emotion

induction while walking is a good start point of novel emotion induction methods. Even there are still some flaws and limitations, it is worth to investigate and conduct experiments using HoloLens 2 or other smart glasses for emotion induction.

There are several useful findings from this study for the emotion recognition research field. Humans gaits can reveal current emotions of subjects while walking although in a non-straight walking path. The arm swing magnitudes can show the differences of human emotions effectively and if the walking curvature data as well as the arm side data are known, it will be much easier to distinguish between emotions. The results of this study are expected to be useful for developing an accurate emotion recognition system from gaits that can performs in a real-world environment where the subjects are walking in a crowded environment without requiring high-quality cameras or specific equipment and without subjects' awareness. Since humans emotions can be detected by subjects' arm swing magnitudes, there is no need to use complex equipment to capture the gait data. Any camera such as CCTV camera can be used together with poseestimation software to calculate the essential features for emotion prediction.

### Chapter 11

## Conclusion

The differences of body part movements, while subjects are walking in a nonstraight path and watching emotion-inducing videos using Microsoft HoloLens 2, were investigated in this study. Due to the non-straight walking path used in this study, gait data for different curvatures can be obtained. OptiTrack motion-capturing system with 37 markers was used for recording human gaits. Emotional videos were used for emotion induction by displaying the videos on HoloLens 2 while subjects are walking. However, not all subjects felt the same emotion as expected. Hence, it is essential to ask the subjects about their feelings after finishing emotion induction. Gait features were calculated from 24 angles that show the movements of body parts while subjects are walking. Walking straightness and the curvature level of walking were computed as well as the inside-outside status of body side. According to the results of statistical analyses on gait data including one-way ANOVA, multi-factor ANOVA, and linear regression analysis, the magnitudes of arm swing are larger when the subjects are walking and feeling happy than when the subjects are walking and feeling sad. Besides, if the walking path is not straight, observing the body movements on one side will be easier for prediction of emotions than another side. This study found that the left arm swing can reveal the current emotion of subjects better than the right arm swing, especially when the left arm is outside of circular walking path and the subjects are walking with high curvature trajectories. From all analyses, the results suggest that body part movements while walking are different under different emotions. Therefore, emotions of humans can be detected from their gaits. Particularly, arm swing magnitude can reveal current emotions of subjects better than any other parts of the body.

This study can be considered as an investigation that shows the differences of human gaits when walking in different emotions. Although there are some limitations such as the numbers of emotions are limited to only three types including happy, sad and neither, this study shows that emotion induction using smart glasses to show the videos for real-time emotion induction is effective and consistent. This emotion induction method is a novel method that no one has ever used before. Obviously, walking when feeling happy and walking when feeling sad have significantly different arm swings when the subjects walk in both straight and non-straight walking paths. Also, distinguishing between emotions is easier when the arm side information are known. These findings have the potential to be used for developing an automatic emotion recognition system that works with any walking trajectories. Gait data in a real-world scenario can be captured from far away without subject's awareness by standard video camera with a pose-estimation software e.g., OpenPose, or by markerless motion capturing devices such as Microsoft Kinect or Intel RealSense.

## List of Publications

### International Conferences and Workshop

- Nitchan Jianwattanapaisarn, Kaoru Sumi, Akira Utsumi, Nirattaya Khamsemanan and Cholwich Nattee: Analysis of Non-Straight Walking Human Gaits in Different Emotions, Workshop on Computation: Theory and Practice, Nov. 2021.
- Nitchan Jianwattanapaisarn, Kaoru Sumi, Akira Utsumi: Emotion Recognition from Non-Straight Walking Gaits Induced by Emotional Videos, 3rd Momentary Emotion Elicitation & Capture (MEEC), Hybrid Workshop at ACII 2022, In Press.

## **International Journal**

- Nitchan Jianwattanapaisarn and Kaoru Sumi: Investigation of Real-time Emotional Data Collection of Human Gaits Using Smart Glasses, Journal of Robotics, Networking and Artificial Life, Volume 9, Issue 2, pp. 159-170 (2022).
- Nitchan Jianwattanapaisarn, Kaoru Sumi, Akira Utsumi, Nirattaya Khamsemanan and Cholwich Nattee: Emotional Characteristic Analysis of Human Gait while Real-Time Movie Viewing, Frontiers in Artificial Intelligence (2022), Under Review.

# **Book Chapter**

 Nitchan Jianwattanapaisarn and Kaoru Sumi: Methods for Real-time Emotional Data Collection on Human Gait, Intelligent Video Surveillance - New Perspectives, IntechOpen (2022), In Press.

#### References

- F. Ahmed, B. Sieu, and M. L. Gavrilova. Score and rank-level fusion for emotion recognition using genetic algorithm. In 2018 IEEE 17th International Conference on Cognitive Informatics & Cognitive Computing (ICCI\* CC), pages 46–53. IEEE, 2018.
- [2] E. Baratin, L. Sugavaneswaran, K. Umapathy, C. Ioana, and S. Krishnan.
   Wavelet-based characterization of gait signal for neurological abnormalities.
   Gait & posture, 41(2):634–639, 2015.
- [3] A. Barliya, L. Omlor, M. A. Giese, A. Berthoz, and T. Flash. Expression of emotion in the kinematics of locomotion. *Experimental brain research*, 225(2):159–176, 2013.
- [4] Y. Baveye, E. Dellandréa, C. Chamaret, and L. Chen. Deep learning vs. kernel methods: Performance for emotion prediction in videos. In 2015 international conference on affective computing and intelligent interaction (acii), pages 77–83. IEEE, 2015.
- [5] R. L. Blakemore, R. Neveu, and P. Vuilleumier. How emotion context modulates unconscious goal activation during motor force exertion. *NeuroImage*, 146:904–917, 2017.
- [6] M. Chiu, J. Shu, and P. Hui. Emotion recognition through gait on mobile devices. In 2018 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Comput-

ing and Communications Workshops (PerCom Workshops), pages 800–805. IEEE, 2018.

- [7] K. J. Deluzio, U. P. Wyss, B. Zee, P. A. Costigan, and C. Serbie. Principal component models of knee kinematics and kinetics: normal vs. pathological gait patterns. *Human Movement Science*, 16(2-3):201–217, 1997.
- [8] M. Destephe, T. Maruyama, M. Zecca, K. Hashimoto, and A. Takanishi. The influences of emotional intensity for happiness and sadness on walking. In 2013 35th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC), pages 7452–7455. IEEE, 2013.
- [9] M. M. Gross, E. A. Crane, and B. L. Fredrickson. Effort-shape and kinematic assessment of bodily expression of emotion during gait. *Human* movement science, 31(1):202–221, 2012.
- [10] S. Halovic and C. Kroos. Not all is noticed: Kinematic cues of emotionspecific gait. *Human movement science*, 57:478–488, 2018.
- [11] A. Hussain, N. Afzulpur, M. W. Ashraf, S. Tayyaba, and A. R. Abbasi. Detecting unintended gesture in real-time video for mental state prediction. In *International Conference on Graphic and Image Processing (ICGIP 2011)*, volume 8285, pages 618–624. SPIE, 2011.
- [12] E. R. Isaac, S. Elias, S. Rajagopalan, and K. Easwarakumar. Multiview gait-based gender classification through pose-based voting. *Pattern Recognition Letters*, 126:41–50, 2019.

- [13] A. R. Ismail and S. S. Asfour. Discrete wavelet transform: a tool in smoothing kinematic data. *Journal of biomechanics*, 32(3):317–321, 1999.
- [14] D. Janssen, W. I. Schöllhorn, J. Lubienetzki, K. Fölling, H. Kokenge, and K. Davids. Recognition of emotions in gait patterns by means of artificial neural nets. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 32(2):79–92, 2008.
- [15] G. E. Kang and M. M. Gross. Emotional influences on sit-to-walk in healthy young adults. *Human movement science*, 40:341–351, 2015.
- [16] G. E. Kang and M. M. Gross. The effect of emotion on movement smoothness during gait in healthy young adults. *Journal of biomechanics*, 49(16):4022–4027, 2016.
- [17] M. Karg, K. Kühnlenz, and M. Buss. Recognition of affect based on gait patterns. *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Part B* (*Cybernetics*), 40(4):1050–1061, 2010.
- [18] N. Khamsemanan, C. Nattee, and N. Jianwattanapaisarn. Human identification from freestyle walks using posture-based gait feature. *IEEE Transactions on Information Forensics and Security*, 13(1):119–128, 2017.
- [19] T. Killeen, M. Elshehabi, L. Filli, M. A. Hobert, C. Hansen, D. Rieger,
  K. Brockmann, S. Nussbaum, B. Zörner, M. Bolliger, et al. Arm swing asymmetry in overground walking. *Scientific reports*, 8(1):1–10, 2018.

- [20] S. Kim, M. A. Nussbaum, and S. Ulman. Impacts of using a head-worn display on gait performance during level walking and obstacle crossing. *Journal of Electromyography and Kinesiology*, 39:142–148, 2018.
- [21] K. Kitchat, N. Khamsemanan, and C. Nattee. Gender classification from gait silhouette using observation angle-based geis. In 2019 IEEE International Conference on Cybernetics and Intelligent Systems (CIS) and IEEE Conference on Robotics, Automation and Mechatronics (RAM), pages 485– 490. IEEE, 2019.
- [22] J. Kuhtz-Buschbeck, K. Brockmann, R. Gilster, A. Koch, and H. Stolze. Asymmetry of arm-swing not related to handedness. *Gait & posture*, 27(3):447–454, 2008.
- [23] M. R. Lemke, T. Wendorff, B. Mieth, K. Buhl, and M. Linnemann. Spatiotemporal gait patterns during over ground locomotion in major depression compared with healthy controls. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 34(4-5):277–283, 2000.
- [24] B. Li, C. Zhu, S. Li, and T. Zhu. Identifying emotions from non-contact gaits information based on microsoft kinects. *IEEE Transactions on Affective Computing*, 9(4):585–591, 2016.
- [25] S. Li, L. Cui, C. Zhu, B. Li, N. Zhao, and T. Zhu. Emotion recognition using kinect motion capture data of human gaits. *PeerJ*, 4:e2364, 2016.
- [26] P. Limcharoen, N. Khamsemanan, and C. Nattee. View-independent gait recognition using joint replacement coordinates (jrcs) and convolutional

neural network. *IEEE Transactions on Information Forensics and Security*, 15:3430–3442, 2020.

- [27] P. Limcharoen, N. Khamsemanan, and C. Nattee. Gait recognition and re-identification based on regional lstm for 2-second walks. *IEEE Access*, 9:112057–112068, 2021.
- [28] X. Liu, H. Shi, H. Chen, Z. Yu, X. Li, and G. Zhao. imigue: An identityfree video dataset for micro-gesture understanding and emotion analysis. In *Proceedings of the IEEE/CVF Conference on Computer Vision and Pattern Recognition*, pages 10631–10642, 2021.
- [29] J. Michalak, N. F. Troje, J. Fischer, P. Vollmar, T. Heidenreich, and D. Schulte. Embodiment of sadness and depression—gait patterns associated with dysphoric mood. *Psychosomatic medicine*, 71(5):580–587, 2009.
- [30] J. M. Montepare, S. B. Goldstein, and A. Clausen. The identification of emotions from gait information. *Journal of Nonverbal Behavior*, 11(1):33– 42, 1987.
- [31] M. Nyan, F. Tay, K. Seah, and Y. Sitoh. Classification of gait patterns in the time-frequency domain. *Journal of biomechanics*, 39(14):2647–2656, 2006.
- [32] S. J. Olney, M. P. Griffin, and I. D. McBride. Multivariate examination of data from gait analysis of persons with stroke. *Physical Therapy*, 78(8):814– 828, 1998.

- [33] R. W. Picard. Affective computing. MIT press, 2000.
- [34] J. C. Quiroz, E. Geangu, and M. H. Yong. Emotion recognition using smart watch sensor data: Mixed-design study. *JMIR mental health*, 5(3):e10153, 2018.
- [35] C. L. Roether, L. Omlor, A. Christensen, and M. A. Giese. Critical features for the perception of emotion from gait. *Journal of vision*, 9(6):15–15, 2009.
- [36] H. Sadeghi, P. Allard, and M. Duhaime. Functional gait asymmetry in able-bodied subjects. *Human Movement Science*, 16(2-3):243–258, 1997.
- [37] S. Sayler. What Your Body Says (and how to Master the Message): Inspire, Influence, Build Trust, and Create Lasting Business Relationships. John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- [38] A. Sedighi, E. Rashedi, and M. A. Nussbaum. A head-worn display ("smart glasses") has adverse impacts on the dynamics of lateral position control during gait. *Gait & posture*, 81:126–130, 2020.
- [39] A. Sedighi, S. M. Ulman, and M. A. Nussbaum. Information presentation through a head-worn display ("smart glasses") has a smaller influence on the temporal structure of gait variability during dual-task gait compared to handheld displays (paper-based system and smartphone). *PLoS one*, 13(4):e0195106, 2018.

- [40] R. Shiavi and P. Griffin. Representing and clustering electromyographic gait patterns with multivariate techniques. *Medical and Biological Engineering and Computing*, 19(5):605–611, 1981.
- [41] B. Sun, Z. Zhang, X. Liu, B. Hu, and T. Zhu. Self-esteem recognition based on gait pattern using kinect. *Gait & posture*, 58:428–432, 2017.
- [42] T. J. Tiam-Lee and K. Sumi. Analysis and prediction of student emotions while doing programming exercises. In *International conference on intelligent tutoring systems*, pages 24–33. Springer, 2019.
- [43] A. M. Turcato, M. Godi, A. Giordano, M. Schieppati, and A. Nardone. The generation of centripetal force when walking in a circle: insight from the distribution of ground reaction forces recorded by plantar insoles. *Journal* of neuroengineering and rehabilitation, 12(1):1–12, 2015.
- [44] G. Venture, H. Kadone, T. Zhang, J. Grèzes, A. Berthoz, and H. Hicheur. Recognizing emotions conveyed by human gait. *International Journal of Social Robotics*, 6(4):621–632, 2014.
- [45] M. Wootten, M. Kadaba, and G. Cochran. Dynamic electromyography. i. numerical representation using principal component analysis. *Journal of Orthopaedic Research*, 8(2):247–258, 1990.
- [46] S. Xu, J. Fang, X. Hu, E. Ngai, Y. Guo, V. Leung, J. Cheng, and B. Hu. Emotion recognition from gait analyses: Current research and future directions. arXiv preprint arXiv:2003.11461, 2020.

[47] Z. Zhang, Y. Song, L. Cui, X. Liu, and T. Zhu. Emotion recognition based on customized smart bracelet with built-in accelerometer. *PeerJ*, 4:e2258, 2016.

## Appendix

The full results of one-way ANOVA for mean and SD of all 24 angles in each straightness group are shown as follows.

- Expected Emotion factor with the first dataset
- Reported Emotion factor with the first dataset
- Expected Emotion factor with combination of both datasets
- Reported Emotion factor with combination of both datasets

Table 1: Results of $One-V$	Vay	ANOV	A for	è Meâ	an an	d SD	of E	$\operatorname{ach} P$	Angle	in Eå	ach St	traigh	itness	Gro	up fo	r the
First Dataset (Factor: Exp	pecte	ed Eme	otion	_												
Anda Nama	Tyne	Degrees of	-35° t	o -25°	-25° to	) -15°	-15° t	o -5°	-5° t	io 5°	5° to	$15^{\circ}$	$15^{\circ}$ tc	25°	$25^{\circ} tc$	35°
THEIR LIGHT	- 1 - 1	Freedom	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value	F-Value	P-Value
${\rm LeftAnkleOut-LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftFront}$	Mean	51 67	0.6987	0.5019	0.0630	0.9390 0.4596	0.5669	0.5691	0.4628 1 1753	0.6305	0.7150	0.4911	0.4281	0.6527	0.0274	0.9730
	Mean	1 01	0.0400	0.9608	0.2012	0.8183	0.2380	0.7887	0.2609	0.7707	0.1876	0.8292	0.0528	0.9486	0.1438	0.8662
KughtAnkleOut-KughtKneeOut-WaistKughtFront	SD	2	0.3288	0.7213	0.5030	0.6074	0.5824	0.5604	0.4580	0.6335	0.3936	0.6754	0.2081	0.8124	0.3454	0.7086
${\rm LeftShin-LeftKneeOut-LeftThigh}$	Mean	2	0.3689	0.6933	0.0266	0.9738 0.4196	0.0402	0.9606	0.1281 0.1084	0.8799	0.0466	0.9545 0.8127	0.0124	0.9877	0.0645	0.9376 0.8645
	Mean	1 01	0.0961	0.9086	0.5365	0.5878	0.1823	0.8336	0.0654	0.9367	0.2214	0.8017	0.0934	0.9109	0.0191	0.9811
KughtShin-KughtKneeOut-KughtTingh	SD	2	0.2366	0.7901	0.7163	0.4930	0.2288	0.7959	0.4617	0.6312	0.2421	0.7854	0.0345	0.9661	0.2518	0.7778
LeftKneeOut-LeftThigh-WaistLeftFront	Mean	2	0.1162	0.8905	0.0672	0.9351	0.3171	0.7290	0.1885	0.8285	0.1517	0.8594	0.1323	0.8762	0.0731	0.9296
	SD	2	0.3972	0.6742	0.5685	0.5696	0.1123	0.8939	0.1519	0.8592	0.0871	0.9167	0.2593	0.7720	0.1770	0.8380
${\it RightKneeOut-RightThigh-WaistRightFront}$	Mean SD	0 0	0.0272 0.0176	0.9732 0.9826	0.2478 0.4165	0.7814 0.6614	0.3318 0.0561	0.7184 0.9455	0.0409 0.5370	0.9599 0.5857	0.0489 0.1358	0.9523 0.8732	0.0056	0.9944 0.9612	0.0342 0.2599	0.9664 0.7716
LeftThigh-WaistLeftFront-Chest	Mean	0 0	0.0575	0.9442	0.2484	0.7809	0.0225	7779.0	0.0505	0.9508	0.0442	0.9568	0.0635	0.9385	0.0796	0.9235
	Mean	7 6	0.019	0.9981	0.0953	0.9093	0.3291	0.7204	0.0359	0.9647	0.0404	0.9605	0.0015	0.9985	0.0004	9666 U
RightThigh-WaistRightFront-Chest	SD	1 0	0.2227	0.8011	0.3880	0.6802	0.6301	0.5346	0.2490	0.7799	0.3234	0.7243	0.5774	0.5629	0.7637	0.4682
	Mean	2	0.0673	0.9350	0.1955	0.8230	0.0322	0.9684	0.0839	0.9196	0.0410	0.9598	0.0633	0.9387	0.0654	0.9367
WaistLettFront-Unest-LettShoulder Lop	SD	2	0.4684	0.6286	1.2575	0.2923	0.4890	0.6147	0.4218	0.6567	0.6656	0.5157	0.6061	0.5471	0.8730	0.4203
Waist Right Front-Chest-Right Should or Ton	Mean	2	0.0326	0.9679	0.0055	0.9945	0.1610	0.8515	0.0369	0.9638	0.0259	0.9744	0.1441	0.8660	0.1333	0.8753
	SD	2	0.9598	0.3897	1.2461	0.2955	0.3207	0.7264	0.1894	0.8277	0.2634	0.7688	0.1474	0.8631	0.4252	0.6546
LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	Mean	0	0.1133	0.8931	0.0771	0.9259	0.4082	0.6660	0.3419	0.7110	0.0088	0.9913	0.0080	0.9920	0.0221	0.9782
	Meen	.7 C	0.0723	0.0680	01/200	0.4958	0.0834	0.0200	0.1079	0.8978	0.2782	0.7576	0.1335	0.5006	0.0220	0.9776
RightKneeOut-WaistRightBack-BackRight	SD	1 01	0.4738	0.6253	0.3182	0.7287	0.8494	0.4307	1.9243	0.1500	1.9279	0.1496	1.1144	0.3314	0.2577	0.7732
$\mathbf{W}_{\mathcal{O}}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{O}}$ and $\mathbf{P}_{\mathcal{O}$	Mean	2	0.0055	0.9945	0.0524	0.9490	0.0588	0.9430	0.1206	0.8864	0.1133	0.8930	0.1484	0.8622	0.1787	0.8366
MARSTREED SCR. DSCR. DSUD 0000000000000000000000000000000000	SD	2	0.2455	0.7832	0.0746	0.9282	0.1165	0.8902	0.5529	0.5766	0.3701	0.6914	0.1270	0.8808	0.2624	0.7696
WaistRightBack-BackRight-RightShoulderBack	Mean	2	0.0164	0.9837	0.2105	0.8108	0.2754	0.7599	0.1907	0.8266	0.4627	0.6306	0.1733	0.8411	0.1627	0.8501
	SD	57 0	0.6988	0.5018	0.8341	0.4396	0.7722	0.4647	1.9541	0.1457	1.8371	0.1634	1.8335	0.1643	0.9480	0.3904
LeftShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	57 0	0.1003	0.9048	0.0646	0.9375	0.6025	0.9942	0.0909	0.9131	1.0401	0 1465	0.0539	0.9475	9 4667	0.9304
	Mean	1 01	0.2849	0.7533	0.3381	0.7146	0.1859	0.8307	0.7313	0.4832	0.4392	0.6455	0.3593	0.6989	0.3400	0.7125
RightShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.3272	0.7224	0.0465	0.9546	1.6002	0.2069	2.3775	0.0967	1.5533	0.2154	1.8237	0.1658	3.6983	0.0276
RackI aft_RackTon_HaadTon	Mean	2	0.1957	0.8229	0.1944	0.8239	0.2522	0.7776	0.3959	0.6739	0.4448	0.6419	0.2402	0.7869	0.2648	0.7678
dot mont dot woor atorwoor	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.9232	0.4037	0.2502	0.7795	0.1858	0.8307	1.7377	0.1799	1.1061	0.3339	1.1375	0.3240	1.0224	0.3628
BackBight-BackTon-HeadTon	Mean	2	0.1226	0.8849	0.1470	0.8637	0.1691	0.8447	0.0811	0.9221	0.3629	0.6964	0.2208	0.8022	0.3136	0.7314
	SD	c7 c	1.2557	0.2934	0.1276	0.8805	0.6979	0.5000	1.3334	0.2670	1.4269	0.2438	1.9193	0.1511	1.3109	0.2734
BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	CS	4 C	0.8814	0.0010.0	1 9349	0.9080	0.7005	0.4043	0.602.0	0.4505	0.6990	0.5384	0.111.0	102000	1 5965	0.9915
	Mean	4 6	0.1877	0.8294	0.1031	0.9022	0.7849	0.4590	0.4870	0.6156	0.9734	0.7612	0.2687	0.7648	0.1749	0.8397
BackRight-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	SD	2	1.0834	0.3460	1.3641	0.2640	0.4045	0.6684	0.5204	0.5955	0.5944	0.5534	0.4766	0.6220	0.4526	0.6370
DodrTon I off CharldonDodr I off Human A untiliah	Mean	2	0.8956	0.4146	0.8612	0.4282	0.2046	0.8153	0.2388	0.7879	0.1776	0.8375	0.1046	0.9007	0.1015	0.9036
ngummu and oner-war temomonored and war	SD	2	0.4737	0.6254	0.4183	0.6602	0.1621	0.8506	1.0618	0.3487	1.5991	0.2060	1.4489	0.2389	0.4938	0.6115
BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	Mean	2	0.3612	0.6986	0.4943	0.6126	0.2053	0.8148	0.7697	0.4652	0.5401	0.5840	0.3806	0.6843	0.3361	0.7152
	SL)	7	0.3637	0.6969	0.7683	0.4686	0.0051	0.9949	0.5426	0.5825	0.6985	0.4992	1.1292	0.3267	1.9275	0.1500
Left Upper ArmHigh-Left Elbow Out-Left Wrist Out	Mean	57 C	1.4454	0.2450 0.8139	0.6532	0.5243 0.6925	0.8158	0.4452 0.5533	0.5184 0.6584	0.5967	0.4014	0.6702	0.4382	0.6462 0.3703	0.3603	0.6982
	Mean	10	0.9990	0.7480	0.5570	0.5756	0.1330	0.8748	0.1503	0.8606	010070	101000	0.7635	0.4683	1 0480	0.3535
RightUpperArmHigh-RightElbowOut-RightWristOut	SD	1 61	0.5626	0.5731	1.2252	0.3015	0.8732	0.4208	0.9758	0.3796	1.1729	0.3127	0.9895	0.3747	0.5837	0.5594

Table 2: Results of Olie- Wa	AI AI	NUVA	IOL	Mean	anu	S D C C	I La	IA II.	Igle I	II La	UC II)	raign	ULLESS	CIO	np Ioi	enue.
First Dataset (Factor: Repo	rted	Emot	$\mathrm{ion})$													
Angle Name	Type I	Jegrees of Freedom	-35° to F-Value	-25° P-Value	-25° tc F-Value	-15° P-Value	-15° to F-Value	o -5° P-Value	-5° t F-Value	o 5° P-Value	5° to F-Value	-15° P-Value	15° to F-Value	o 25° P-Value	25° to F-Value	35° P-Value
$1 \sim 0.5 \text{ M} \sim 1.5 \text{ M} \sim 0.5 \text{ M} \sim 0.5 \text{ M} \sim 1.5 \text{ M} \sim $	Mean	2	0.4845	0.6188	0.4657	0.6301	0.4470	0.6408	0.4713	0.6252	0.1020	0.9031	0.0909	0.9131	0.7818	0.4599
TELEVIRIEORI-TELEVILEEORI- MAISULEICEUN	SD	2	0.6812	0.5105	1.3633	0.2642	0.1778	0.8373	0.4065	0.6668	0.8391	0.4344	2.5143	0.0851	0.8202	0.4428
Bight AnkleOut-Right KneeOut-Waist Bight Front	Mean	2	0.5185	0.5985	5.5611	0.0063	2.9376	0.0575	0.2956	0.7446	0.3023	0.7396	0.0331	0.9674	0.0279	0.9725
	SD	2	0.5383	0.5869	0.2925	0.7476	1.3475	0.2645	0.6572	0.5200	0.7174	0.4899	1.9441	0.1476	0.8614	0.4251
LeftShin-LeftKneeOut-LeftThigh	Mean	5	0.0484	0.9528	0.2797	0.7571	0.0162	0.9839	0.3218	0.7254	0.5134	0.5996	0.5020	0.6066	1.0129	0.3662
	US ;	.7	1.0287	0.3646	0.8801	0.4204	2.2178	0.1141	0.8895	0.4133	1.5201	0.2226	2.3493	0.0998	0.7299	0.4841
RightShin-RightKneeOut-RightThigh	Mean	51 67	0.0336 2.0007	0.9670	0.3826	0.6838	0.2186	0.8041 0.2659	0.4932 0.2658	0.7670	0.3929 0.2274	0.7970	0.4171 0.6056	0.6599 0.5474	0.8981 1.7291	0.4100
$1 \sim 0.1 M_{\odot} \sim 0.01 M_{\odot} \sim $	Mean	2	0.3220	0.7262	0.1940	0.8242	0.0450	0.9560	0.9174	0.4021	0.6264	0.5361	0.7198	0.4889	0.6020	0.5493
Detrutecont-pert tugh-warstheturiout	SD	2	0.2257	0.7988	1.0393	0.3604	2.6192	0.0778	0.3334	0.7171	0.2672	0.7659	0.7239	0.4869	0.1148	0.8916
RightKneeOut-RightThigh-WaistRightFront	Mean	51 0	0.0146	0.9855	0.2310	0.7945	0.3152	0.7303	0.7140	0.4915	0.5416	0.5831	1.1918	0.3072	0.9561	0.3873
2	Meen	7 C	0.3876	0.6807	1.2099 0.0956	90.020747	0.8356	0.4366	0126.0	0.3201	0.4243	10000	1.4404	0.2397	1.2995 0.8437	0.12/00
LeftThigh-WaistLeftFront-Chest	SD	4 C	0.9137	0.8083	0.2020	0.4987	1 6200	0.0004-0	1.6481	1670.0	0.4574	0.6340	0.5656	1 2695 0	0.3365	07140
	Mean	101	0.1644	0.8488	0.3378	0.7148	0.9859	0.3767	0.4663	0.6283	0.1492	0.8616	0.7130	0.4922	0.4879	0.6151
RightThigh-WaistRightFront-Chest	SD	- 2	0.8236	0.4445	2.5884	0.0841	0.6103	0.5452	1.8801	0.1566	0.5680	0.5680	0.1314	0.8770	0.2727	0.7618
WeistI of Durit Cheet I of Cheer Jan Ter	Mean	2	0.9145	0.4071	0.8174	0.4468	1.3427	0.2658	1.6144	0.2029	1.8164	0.1667	1.1176	0.3304	1.1843	0.3095
warsthettront-Onest-Lettonoutger 10p	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	2.1649	0.1250	3.5329	0.0359	0.6072	0.5469	0.5502	0.5781	1.0983	0.3365	0.9759	0.3798	1.9595	0.1454
Waist Right Front-Chest-Right Shoulder Ton	Mean	2	0.7710	0.4677	0.6719	0.5148	0.4229	0.6563	0.2794	0.7567	0.3841	0.6818	0.7168	0.4904	0.8103	0.4471
	SD	2	2.0888	0.1341	4.6688	0.0133	0.6010	0.5502	1.9995	0.1394	0.4906	0.6134	1.3305	0.2682	1.5063	0.2259
LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	Mean	2	0.2721	0.7629	0.3625	0.6976	0.2912	0.7480	1.8402	0.1628	1.0133	0.3659	0.7293	0.4844	0.7647	0.4677
	SD	2	0.2765	0.7596	3.4477	0.0387	0.7650	0.4680	0.5142	0.5992	0.8033	0.4501	1.5869	0.2088	1.0004	0.3707
RightKneeOut-WaistRightBack-BackRight	Mean	5	1.1541	0.3233	0.8457	0.4347	1.3287	0.2695	1.9146	0.1514	1.6376	0.1984	1.5744	0.2113	1.0199	0.3637
0	SU	.7	0.1448	0.8655	1.0217	0.3666	0.4833	0.6182	1070.0	0.9323	0.0521	0.9493	0.1252	0.8825	0.1395	0.8699
WaistLeftBack-BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack	Mean	7 0	0.1492	0.8610	0.3764	0.7025	0.2840	0.7534	0.3105	0.3489	90200	0.3972	1.0790 3 1031	0.3432	0.9948 9 4005	0.3728
	Moon	4 C	0.7306	0.4865	0.05.63	0.3005	0.4079	0.6666	0610.0	1121.0	2010/2	8161 U	1001.0	0.1959	9 1851	0.0000
WaistRightBack-BackRight-RightShoulderBack	SD	101	0.6572	0.5225	0.8903	0.4163	0.8087	0.4483	0.2036	0.8161	0.0944	0.91210	0.3177	0.7284	0.4623	0.6309
I oft Charldow Book Book Ton Hood Ton	Mean	2	1.1209	0.3337	0.9886	0.3785	2.1281	0.1244	1.4770	0.2320	1.6585	0.1944	2.4785	0.0881	2.5454	0.0826
dot nearranter nace nace to brite and	SD	2	0.1825	0.8338	0.0951	0.9094	0.6739	0.5120	0.3303	0.7193	0.0124	0.9877	0.6777	0.5097	0.7725	0.4641
RightShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	2	1.3644	0.2645	1.7783	0.1783	1.8622	0.1606	3.5905	0.0303	3.1532	0.0460	3.8224	0.0246	3.6483	0.0289
	SD	2	0.0176	0.9825	0.1755	0.8395	0.3759	0.6877	0.1106	0.8954	0.0546	0.9469	1.2251	0.2973	1.3075	0.2743
BackLeft-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	5	0.7225	0.4903	1.2970	0.2814	1.5026	0.2275	0.3595	0.6987	0.8208	0.4424	1.0128	0.3663	1.0605	0.3495
-	R ST	.71	0.1865	0.8304	0.0673	0.9350	1.0389	0.3576	0.2770	0.7585	0.4246	0.6550	0.1453	0.8649	0.2800	0.7563
BackRight-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	.71	0.3262	0.7232	0.8130	0.4487	1.5697	0.2132	2.0942	7/2T/0	1.9272	0.1497	1.4560	0.2372	1.0514	0.1961
	Mean	7 0	0.1319	0.1031	00394	0.0689	6717.0	0.7860	0.1439	0102.0	1201.0	0.0504	0.0086	0.0061	0.1756	0.0478
BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	SD	101	4.0633	0.0229	6.5990	0.0027	3.1264	0.0481	3.6658	0.0282	3.6448	0.0288	5.1320	0.0073	6.9080	0.0014
Dod: Dickt DicktChouldanDad: DicktImmon American	Mean	2	1.0434	0.3595	1.3588	0.2653	0.0156	0.9845	0.3870	0.6799	0.3829	0.6826	0.3804	0.6844	0.4216	0.6569
Dack nugur-nuguronourcer pack-nugur opper Arminigu	SD	2	0.5392	0.5864	3.1303	0.0514	0.3775	0.6866	1.9646	0.1442	1.7410	0.1794	2.4455	0.0910	2.0120	0.1382
BackTon-Left.ShoulderBack-Left.UnnerArmHigh	Mean	2	0.5789	0.5641	0.5947	0.5552	1.8350	0.1649	2.2422	0.1102	2.2731	0.1071	3.1222	0.0476	3.2399	0.0426
Burning down warmana down	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	2.3301	0.1074	4.5964	0.0142	3.9456	0.0224	0.4238	0.6554	0.2227	0.8007	0.1632	0.8496	0.3666	0.6939
BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	Mean	5	0.3575	0.7012	0.2573	0.7740	0.6156	0.5424	2.8092	0.0638	2.6764	0.0726	2.9230	0.0576	2.6311	0.0761
	S.D	.7	3.1340	0.0519	6.6653	0.0025	0.9057	0.4076	0.2664	0.7666	0.7699	0.4652	2.2086	0.1143	3.1152	0.0479
LeftUpperArmHigh-LeftElbowOut-LeftWristOut	Mean	c1 c	0.6176	0.5432	0.8131	0.4486	0.0917	0.9124	0.2894	0.7492	0.2457	0.7825	0.0682	0.9341	0.0836	0.9199
1	Mean	7 0	1.1904 0.4918	0.5581	1.U30U	0.30UI	01944	0.04o1	0029 U	0.5080	0.4440 0.3006	0.0421 0.6714	0.0000	0.000 L	0.4040 0.0997	0.0776
RightUpperArmHigh-RightElbowOut-RightWristOut	SD	101	0.6450	0.5288	1.2455	0.2956	0.7447	0.4775	0.4103	0.6643	0.0592	0.9425	1.4991	0.2274	1.6201	0.2022
	-	-														

for the 5 Fach Ctraightn <u>۶</u>. Anglo and CD of Foch of One-Wew ANOVA for Mean Reculte Table 9.

Table 3: Results of One-W	Vay 1	ANOV	A for	· Mea	un and	d SD	of $E_{\delta}$	ach A	ngle	in $E_{\delta}$	ach S	traigh	itness	Gro	up foi	: the
Combination of Both Data	sets	(Facto	or: E3	xpect	ed Er	notio	1)									
Angle Name	Type	Degree of Freedom	-35 to	0 -25 P-Value	-25 to	0 -15 P-Value	-15 to F-Value	0 -5 P-Value	-5 t F-Value	0 5 P_Value	5 to F-Value	15 P_Value	15 to	D_Value	25 to F-Value	35 D_Value
T	Mean	2	0.8889	0.4142	0.5138	0.5996	0.4849	0.6166	0.5459	0.5802	0.3353	0.7156	1.1607	0.3159	0.3582	0.6995
LeftAnkleOut-LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftFront	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.1121	0.8940	0.2915	0.7477	1.1126	0.3311	0.7688	0.4650	0.4583	0.6331	0.4340	0.6486	0.3631	0.6961
RightAnkleOut-RightKneeOut-WaistRightFront	Mean	5	0.0329	0.9676	0.0472	0.9540	0.3526	0.7034	0.0121	0.9880	0.1759	0.8388	0.1320	0.8764	0.1424	0.8674
	Mean	7 67	0.1249	0.8827	0.5342	0.5876	0.0607	0.9411	0.5588	0.5728	0.0567	0.9449	0.0076	0.9924	0.1155	0.8910
LeftShin-LeftKneeOut-LeftThigh	SD	10	0.6168	0.5416	0.1971	0.8214	0.6260	0.5360	0.7648	0.4668	0.3290	0.7201	0.5040	0.6051	0.4124	0.6628
Richt Shin-Richt KneeOut-Richt Thich	Mean	2	0.0672	0.9351	0.0069	0.9932	0.2066	0.8135	0.3277	0.7210	0.2070	0.8132	0.0377	0.9630	0.1093	0.8965
Tuguronn-Tuguroncoouerugut	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.0436	0.9573	0.7395	0.4796	0.2597	0.7716	0.9594	0.3849	0.9854	0.3753	0.0258	0.9745	0.4008	0.6705
LeftKneeOut-LeftThigh-WaistLeftFront	Mean	2	0.1201	0.8870	0.1752	0.8395	0.0038	0.9963	0.1161	0.8904	0.1711	0.8428	0.0372	0.9635	0.0106	0.9894
	Mean	7 6	0.9374	0.7801	0106.0	0.7407	0 6413	0.5970	1.080.0	0.0919	0.0503	0.0500	0.0106	0.0806	0.0110	10801
RightKneeOut-RightThigh-WaistRightFront	SD	101	0.1190	0.8879	0.2379	0.7887	0.1215	0.8856	1.4663	0.2333	0.1899	0.8272	0.1518	0.8592	0.3705	0.6910
Left Thigh-WaistLeft Front-Chest	Mean	2	1.1409	0.3235	0.2564	0.7743	0.3969	0.6730	0.5684	0.5674	0.0562	0.9453	0.1529	0.8584	0.0840	0.9195
	SD	5 C	1.1551	0.3191	0.3157	0.7299	0.6249	0.5366 0.7411	0.9654	0.3827	0.4013	0.6701	0.5218	0.5945	0.9062	0.4062
RightThigh-WaistRightFront-Chest	SD	10	0.3824	0.6832	0.5041	0.6054	0.0192	0.9810	1.0753	0.3432	0.2323	0.7930	0.6501	0.5233	1.3587	0.2600
	Mean	5	0.1543	0.8572	0.2721	0.7623	0.4767	0.6217	0.1088	0.8970	0.1688	0.8448	0.3608	0.6977	0.1463	0.8640
Marsurentrioucher-mesurentation	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	1.2326	0.2958	0.8355	0.4363	0.0578	0.9439	0.1280	0.8799	0.4215	0.6567	1.1027	0.3345	1.4712	0.2328
WaistRightFront-Chest-RightShoulderTon	Mean	2	0.4412	0.6445	0.8631	0.4246	0.6562	0.5202	0.6426	0.5271	0.7795	0.4602	0.2226	0.8007	0.0892	0.9147
	SD	5	0.9805	0.3786	1.2926	0.2786	0.6135	0.5427	0.5156	0.5979	0.2326	0.7927	0.7737	0.4630	0.8033	0.4497
LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft	Mean	.7 0	1.1029	0.3358	0.1450	0.8652	0.7232	0.4868	0.1525	0.8586	0.1163	0.8903	0.0637	0.9383	0.1709	0.8430
	Mean	7 0	0.4437	0.6420	01270	0.4601	0.4788	0.6904	1.4025	0.2485	0.0700	0.2399	0.0148	0.3965	0.0348	0.4645
RightKneeOut-WaistRightBack-BackRight	SD	5	0.0580	0.9437	0.2247	0.7991	0.6508	0.5230	0.6633	0.5163	0.5166	0.5974	0.1215	0.8857	0.3787	0.6854
WieitI oft Book Book Off I oft I oft Should on Book	Mean	2	0.7470	0.4763	0.4246	0.6551	0.4929	0.6117	0.1985	0.8201	0.1539	0.8575	0.1087	0.8970	0.1956	0.8225
AVAISTEED DACK-DACK DED - DED DOUTCE DACK	SD	2	0.9215	0.4012	1.0748	0.3448	0.9873	0.3748	0.4754	0.6224	0.3996	0.6712	0.3071	0.7360	0.1608	0.8516
WaistRightBack-BackRight-RightShoulderBack	Mean	2	1.2878	0.2803	1.6770	0.1915	0.5412	0.5831	0.9541	0.3870	0.7541	0.4720	0.5657	0.5691	0.6158	0.5415
	SD	2	0.2144	0.8073	0.4039	0.6687	0.1699	0.8439	1.4352	0.2406	1.2506	0.2889	0.8578	0.4260	0.6100	0.5446
LeftShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	.7 67	0.0986	0.9062	0.1430 0.2140	0.8077	0.1752	0.8394	0.4419 0.7252	0.6435 0.4855	0.1602	0.1298	0.2442	0.7509	0.0969	0.9077
	Mean	5	0.0280	0.9724	0.1260	0.8817	0.0879	0.9159	0.1108	0.8951	0.0867	0.9170	0.0039	0.9961	0.1376	0.8715
Nightenback-back top-fiead top	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.1433	0.8667	0.1829	0.8331	0.3781	0.6858	1.4677	0.2330	0.5020	0.6062	0.9158	0.4023	1.1076	0.3329
BackLeft-BackTon-HeadTon	Mean	2	0.1497	0.8612	0.0112	0.9888	0.3020	0.7397	0.5168	0.5973	0.5610	0.5717	0.6829	0.5066	0.7499	0.4741
downard downard more man	SD	2	0.5434	0.5824	0.2992	0.7420	0.5753	0.5637	2.0102	0.1367	1.0879	0.3392	0.4158	0.6605	0.2432	0.7844
BackRight-BackTon-HeadTon	Mean	2	0.5334	0.5882	0.4548	0.6357	0.6570	0.5198	0.5928	0.5538	0.4129	0.6624	0.0418	0.9591	0.0796	0.9235
•	Mean	.7 C	1.1313 0.6108	0.5200	0.7431 1.6616	0.1047	0.3309	0.5741	0.4382	0.0408	0.3703	0.6857	0.4073	0.02/5	0.0784	0.0500
BackLeft-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh	SD	1 01	1.3979	0.2517	0.4699	0.6263	1.4076	0.2476	0.1857	0.8307	1.9177	0.1501	1.7194	0.1825	3.0666	0.0494
Do d.D. indet Diadet ChorridanDo di Diadet II an an Amar Hick	Mean	2	0.5394	0.5848	0.6176	0.5410	0.3516	0.7041	0.6510	0.5227	0.9344	0.3948	0.2527	0.7770	0.8917	0.4121
Dacknught-Mightenbuck-Mighterpress	SD	2	1.0601	0.3502	1.4904	0.2296	0.2017	0.8175	0.7883	0.4561	0.3443	0.7092	0.3478	0.7068	0.8807	0.4166
BackTon-LeftShoulderBack-LeftHnnerArmHigh	Mean	2	0.2856	0.7521	0.2597	0.7718	0.1562	0.8555	0.0687	0.9336	0.1016	0.9035	0.3361	0.7151	0.2912	0.7478
HOUTHHIDDIA COMPANY AND HOUTOND I DO LONG	SD	5	0.5851	0.5588	0.1735	0.8410	0.4041	0.6683	0.1264	0.8813	0.4219	0.6565	1.1095	0.3323	0.6199	0.5393
BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	Mean	5	1.3145	0.2731	1.2619	0.2870	0.5436	0.5817	1.1560	0.3169	0.3471	0.7072	0.5254	0.5923	0.5564	0.5744
	SU SU	7	1.2119	0.3018	1.0990	0.3367	0.5272	0.5913	0.9254	0.3981	0.2154	0.8065	0.8897	0.4128	1.0871	0.3398
LeftUpperArmHigh-LeftElbowOut-LeftWristOut	Mean	.7 0	0.1971	0.8214	0.0242	0.9761	0.1819	0.8338	0.0665	0.9357	0.2760	0.7591	0.2202	0.8026	0.0319	0.9686
1	Uc	7 0	0.4282	0.0020	0.3000	0.0960	0.1/4/	0.5339	0.3938 0.3516	0.0131	0.9238	0.3990	0.8485 0.1334	0.4501 0.8759	0.0495	0.3938
RightUpperArmHigh-RightElbowOut-RightWristOut	SD	10	0.1984	0.8204	0.6765	0.5104	0.0870	0.9167	0.1531	0.8582	0.4728	0.6241	0.0255	0.9748	0.2700	0.7638

Straightness Group for t	
Each Angle in Each	
OVA for Mean and SD of	actor: Expected Emotion)
Table 3: Results of One-Way AN	Combination of Both Datasets (Fa

Table 4: Results of One-Way	/ AN	NOVA	for l	Mean	and	SD o	f Eac	ch Aı	ngle i	n Ea	ch St	raigh	tness	Grou	toj di	· the
Combination of Both Datase	ts (F	actor:	Rep	orted	Emc	otion)										
Angle Name	Type	Degree of	-35 to	) -25 D 17 1	-25 to	-15	-15 t	0 -5	-5 t	0.5	5 to	0 15 D 37 1	15 to	0 25 D 37 1	25 to	35
	Mean	Freedom	<b>F- Value</b> 2 1083	P- value 0 1266	F-Value 0.4769	P-Value 0.6220	F- Value 1 0672	P- Value 0 3463	F- Value 0 3923	P-Value 0.6760	F-Value 0.3252	P-Value 0 7228	F- Value 1 5376	P- value 0 2181	F - Value 0 2862	P-Value 0 7515
LeftAnkleOut-LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftFront	SD	- 67	0.0872	0.9166	0.5682	0.5682	0.1685	0.8450	1.1179	0.3291	0.9840	0.3759	3.7187	0.0264	2.1478	0.1202
Biaht AnklaOut-Biaht KnooOut-Waist Biaht Front	Mean	2	0.6807	0.5085	1.1767	0.3120	0.8529	0.4280	0.0673	0.9349	0.7639	0.4674	0.0687	0.9336	0.0862	0.9175
10111111000000-10211111000000-102110110100	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.1069	0.8987	1.2682	0.2853	1.4688	0.2332	2.6926	0.0702	1.4119	0.2465	2.2237	0.1115	3.0605	0.0497
LeftShin-LeftKneeOut-LeftThigh	Mean	5	0.2280	0.7965	1.7758	0.1741	0.1895	0.8275	1.3973	0.2497	0.3855	0.6807	0.4432	0.6428	0.7890	0.4561
	Nean	67 67	1.4920 1 6507	0.2297	1.7480 2.5729	0.1788	1.4156 2.1315	0.2457 0.1219	0.8242 2.1268	0.4401 0.1220	0.4422 2.7356	0.6434 0.0676	0.9726 3 2877	0.3803	1.0468 2.3955	0.3535
RightShin-RightKneeOut-RightThigh	SD	101	1.7456	0.1796	0.9101	0.4054	1.7572	0.1757	1.0265	0.3602	0.2984	0.7424	0.1865	0.8301	1.3122	0.2722
$1$ of $W_{cont}$ , $1$ of $T$ bind $W_{cont}$ of $B_{cont}$	Mean	2	1.1154	0.3317	0.6901	0.5036	0.6272	0.5354	1.6249	0.1996	0.5365	0.5858	0.7797	0.4603	1.4582	0.2358
DELUTION PERMINENTING PARTECENTION	SD	2	0.2681	0.7653	0.5342	0.5876	2.0076	0.1376	0.2554	0.7748	0.2342	0.7915	0.2013	0.8179	0.0268	0.9736
RightKneeOut-RightThigh-WaistRightFront	Mean	2	1.7377	0.1810	1.4680	0.2347	1.5358	0.2183	1.5908	0.2064	0.9111	0.4040	2.3829	0.0955	1.7646	0.1747
1121 102 102 102 102 102 102 102 102 102	SD	2	0.9003	0.4096	0.5928	0.5544	0.6850	0.5055	2.3039	0.1026	0.1579	0.8541	0.3096	0.7342	0.4957	0.6101
Left Thigh-WaistLeftFront-Chest	Mean	c7 c	2.0755	0.1307	0.5832	0.5598	0.4939	0.6111	2.8797	0.0586	1.1636	0.3148	1.7307	0.1805	1.4207	0.2447
	Mean	4 C	0.0806	0.0144	0.0819	0.0991	1.0034	0.5314	0.0047	0.9007	1016.1	0.0403	0.4539	0.6364	0.01.00	0.6503
RightThigh-WaistRightFront-Chest	SD	- C1	0.0931	0.9112	0.5411	0.5836	0.7828	0.4588	3.4262	0.0345	1.0254	0.3608	0.5228	0.5938	0.1496	0.8612
WoietLoftEront Cheet LoftChouldanTon	Mean	2	0.6266	0.5364	0.4000	0.6713	0.7515	0.4732	1.5884	0.2069	0.8913	0.4120	1.2366	0.2931	0.6715	0.5124
	SD	2	1.9948	0.1413	1.6130	0.2038	0.9626	0.3840	0.6480	0.5242	0.4517	0.6373	0.4168	0.6599	0.7392	0.4791
WaistBightFront-Chest-RightShoulderTon	Mean	2	0.3789	0.6856	0.4800	0.6200	0.2180	0.8044	0.3510	0.7044	0.3130	0.7316	0.1059	0.8996	1.1743	0.3118
	SD	67	1.1997	0.3055	1.8652	0.1596	0.3560	0.7010	0.4153	0.6607	0.0298	0.9706	1.1848	0.3085	1.1203	0.3288
${ m LeftKneeOut-WaistLeftBack-BackLeft}$	Mean	.7 0	0.8965	0.4112	0.4035	0.0689	0.7141	0.4912	4.4613	0.0128	3.3535	0.0372	4.2417	0.0160	3.0949	0.0481
	UC TO TO	7 0	0.024-20	0.1969	006777	1.1034	0000.2	10010	0.0000	0.0000	0000 6	0.0949	0700.1	0.1991	0.010.0	0.4190
${\it Right KneeOut-Waist Right Back-Back Right}$	SD	7 67	0.1611	0.8514	0.6278	0.5356	2.2004	0.7056	4.0024 0.2771	0.7583	0.3963	0.6734	2.0422 0.0710	0.9315	2.0020 0.2152	0.8067
$W_{clicul} = \Phi_{c} D_{clicul} = D_{clicul} = \Phi_{clicul} + 1 = \Phi_{clicul} D_{clicul} D_{clicul}$	Mean	2	1.2163	0.3005	1.1312	0.3262	1.6084	0.2033	1.7501	0.1765	1.5008	0.2258	2.1981	0.1144	1.6682	0.1919
AV & SUBJUCK - DACK - DACK TO	$^{SD}$	2	0.3966	0.6736	0.6943	0.5015	0.6353	0.5311	0.4166	0.6599	0.8811	0.4162	0.5300	0.5897	0.4119	0.6631
Waist Right Back-BackBight-Right Should ar Back	Mean	2	2.1893	0.1172	3.4134	0.0363	2.6253	0.0755	3.1112	0.0468	3.9673	0.0207	2.0531	0.1317	2.3080	0.1028
wantannanangangangangangangangangangan	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.2469	0.7816	0.5137	0.5996	0.0777	0.9252	0.1602	0.8521	0.0131	0.9870	0.2289	0.7957	0.2877	0.7504
LeftShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	67	0.7262	0.4862	0.8549	0.4280	1.3984	0.2499	1.5517	0.2145	1.3629	0.2586	1.4459	0.2386	2.1129	0.1243
	ns.	.7	0.0713	0.9312	0.7052	0.4901	0/2010	0.5572	0.1103	1168.0	0.9725	0.3802	0.2030	0.7080	0.3335	0.7169
RightShoulderBack-BackTop-HeadTop	Mean	.7 0	1.5606	0.2149	2.21.29	0.1141	1 6056	1221.0	2.4146	1260.0	L.8/33	0.1367	1606.1	0161.0	2.2146	0.1126
	Mean	1 01	1.1731	0.3135	1.7824	0.1729	1.1750	0.3114	0.7639	0.4672	1.5038	0.2252	1.2742	0.2825	2.0429	0.1331
BackLett-BackTop-HeadTop	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.3430	0.7105	0.6242	0.5375	3.7010	0.0268	0.4342	0.6484	0.6477	0.5245	0.4798	0.6198	0.2636	0.7686
$\mathbf{D}_{ab}(\mathbf{D})$ with $\mathbf{D}_{ab}(\mathbf{D})$ and $\mathbf{D}_{ab}(\mathbf{D})$	Mean	2	1.3631	0.2604	1.7396	0.1802	0.9995	0.3703	0.3298	0.7194	0.9706	0.3809	0.3500	0.7052	0.3559	0.7011
Datkingur Datkingur TOP Treat TOP	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	0.4215	0.6572	0.1280	0.8800	1.2939	0.2770	0.7979	0.4517	0.3034	0.7387	0.6735	0.5113	0.6832	0.5065
BockI of I of ShouldonBock I of IImon A muHich	Mean	2	0.6035	0.5488	0.0022	0.9978	0.0231	0.9772	0.2776	0.7579	0.0147	0.9854	0.0920	0.9121	0.0257	0.9747
ingitality in the hold of the word to be for the state of	SD	2	2.4124	0.0946	0.4531	0.6368	0.1236	0.8838	0.8461	0.4307	2.3878	0.0949	2.1825	0.1161	6.3311	0.0023
BackBight-BightShoulderBack-Bight[]nnerArmHigh	Mean	2	1.5640	0.2142	1.4495	0.2390	0.8507	0.4290	0.8189	0.4425	0.9847	0.3756	0.6724	0.5119	0.3588	0.6991
	SD	5 0	2.0030	0.1401	4.7092	0.0108	1.9967	0.1391	0.0494	0.9518	1.8799	0.1557	0.7719	0.4638	1.8260	0.1645
${ m BackTop-LeftShoulderBack-LeftUpperArmHigh}$	SD	7 C	0.004 0.0910	0.0784	1.0011	0.6461	0.9614	0.0030	1.4020	0.6137	2000/2	0.0130	0.1850	0.0000	016470	1 7405
	Mean	1 01	2.3461	0.1008	2.5208	0.0849	3.2519	0.0412	2.7417	0.0670	2.2603	0.1074	3.1329	0.0463	2.6921	0.0709
BackTop-RightShoulderBack-RightUpperArmHigh	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	5	6.6444	0.0019	4.4735	0.0135	1.1185	0.3293	0.1016	0.9035	0.3731	0.6892	0.0469	0.9542	2.4614	0.0886
$1 \circ 0.000$	Mean	2	0.2683	0.7652	0.1242	0.8833	0.7070	0.4947	0.3079	0.7353	0.1052	0.9002	0.5953	0.5527	0.1942	0.8237
anovertawaranowourantartuttitititititititititititi	$^{\mathrm{SD}}$	2	2.4322	0.0929	1.3767	0.2567	0.2055	0.8145	0.7617	0.4683	0.1849	0.8314	0.3769	0.6866	0.2322	0.7931
Right IImmer Arm High-Right Ellhow Out-Bight Wrist Out	Mean	2	0.4759	0.6227	0.4203	0.6578	0.1168	0.8898	0.0719	0.9306	0.2151	0.8067	0.1754	0.8393	0.0700	0.9324
and a property of the second s	SD	2	1.0803	0.3433	1.6013	0.2062	0.5197	0.5956	1.2047	0.3020	0.5978	0.5511	2.5795	0.0790	2.8126	0.0631